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- Chapter 1
THE RESOURCES OF OLYMPIC NATIONAL PARK

Olympic National Park is a rich area of numerous and varied resources. Within a
distance of about forty miles, the Olympic Mountains rise from sea level to the summit
of Mount Olympus, 7,965 feet above sea level. Rocky bluffs and sandy beaches stretch
along a fifty-seven-mile coastal strip; sea stacks and islands dot the waters offshore. As
wind currents sweep moist air inland from the Pacific Ocean, mist rises against the
mountains. As the air cools, it sheds its moisture on the western flanks of the Olympics,
nourishing lush green temperate rain forests in the major river valleys. This is a land of
contrasts. Mount Olympus, capped with several glaciers, receives as much as 200 inches
of precipitation a year, most of it in the form of snow. The northeastern portion of the
peninsula lies in the rain shadow of the mountains. There the nearby town of Sequim
receives only about seventeen inches of rainfall per year, and irrigation is necessary to
grow crops on the surrounding prairie.

THE GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION OF THE PARK

Olympic National Park occupies the heart of the Olympic Peninsula as well as a narrow
strip along most of the peninsula’s Pacific coastline. Its more than 900,000 acres lay
mostly in Jefferson and Clallam counties. Small portions of Mason and Grays Harbor
counties are also within the boundaries of the park.

THE PURPOSE OF THE PARK

Section 1 of the June 29, 1938 act of Congress creating the park states that the park was
established "for the benefit and enjoyment of the people."”" In fact, it was established as
a "large park," much larger than most earlier parks, and as a wilderness park in the 1930s
interpretation of that term. (See chapter 4.)

THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE PARK

Olympic National Park encompasses many life forms that have existed in their natural
state from time immemorial. The ruggedness of the Olympic Mountains and the density
of the rain forests protect much of the area from any significant intrusion by man. The
pristine condition of much of the park’s ecosystem provides a baseline for the
measurement of man’s impact on the environment in other areas. The integrity of this
resource has been recognized by the United Nations, which designated it as an
International Biosphere Reserve in 1977 and as a World Heritage Site in 1981.

L U.S. Statutes At Large, Vol. 52:1241.



PRIMARY RESOURCES OF THE PARK

Geological Resources

Mount Olympus and the Olympic Mountain Range. The Olympic Mountains were formed
- between 15 million and 55 million years ago when two crustal plates collided and drove

. the mountains up from the ocean floor. The rock in the Olympic Mountains is formed

~ from oceanic volcanics and off-shore sediments, which were carried and bound to the
North American continent by the conveyor belt action of ocean floor movement caused
by currents in the earth’s mantle. In the Pacific Northwest, the ocean floor crust was
created at the Juan de Fuca Ridge to the west of the peninsula. As it spread toward
North America, some of it dove beneath the continental plate, while the remainder was
scraped off and added to the continental crust. Through time, this movement has
occurred in spurts and changed direction. Changes in the relative speed of this process
caused the material that was to become the Olympics to float to the surface in a vast
dome.? Because of the way they were created, the mountains are unusually jumbled and
rugged. During the past millennia, streams and glaciers have carved the Olympics into
the striking array of mountains and valleys of today.

Blue Glacier and other glaciers. The Olympics contain more than sixty alpine glaciers,
inciudine the Riue, t Tni
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major rivers.

1 T P pnr el mtnse £ond coacrarnl 8 s ’
he Hoh, and the Jeffers. These glaciers feed several of the park’s

Lake Crescent. This beautiful blue-green lake lies nestled within forested mountain
slopes at the northern boundary of the park. Glacial activity carved the basin of Lake
Crescent to a depth of more than 600 feet in some places. This lake is the home of the
Beardslee trout, a species unique to the park.

Ozette Lake. Ozette Lake is the westernmost fresh water lake in the continental United
States, less than three miles from the Pacific Ocean.

Flora

The Rain Forests. Rain forests stretch along the western slopes of the Olympics. They
are the result of the Japan Current, which brings cold water from the coast of Siberia
along the shores of the Olympic Peninsula. The temperature differential between land
and water has created a rain cycle that deposits more than 140 inches of rain per year on
the western slope. The result is a dense rain forest of Sitka spruce, western hemlock,
Douglas fir, and other conifers that grow to spectacular size. The rain forests are
located in the Hoh, thé Quinault, and the Queets river valleys.

2 Warren review notes.




The Subalpine Meadows. During the spring and summer, the meadows in the high
country are filled with spectacular wildflower displays. It is estimated that as many as
eight species of wild flowers survived the Ice Age. Some of the plants that are found
here include Flett’s violet, Piper’s bellflower, Olympic Mountain daisy, lupine, glacier
lilies, and avalanche lilies.

Fauna

Roosevelt Elk. The park contains the largest free-roaming herd of Roosevelt elk in the
United States. Present estimates place the size of the herd at 5,000 to 7,000 head. The
herd is migratory, spending the winters on the lower levels of the western slope rain
forests. In the spring and summer, the elk tend to separate into two groups. One group
migrates to the high country, while the other moves part way up the valleys within the
rain forests. The Roosevelt elk was identified as a separate species in 1897 by Dr.
Charles Merriam of the Biological Survey. He named the species after Theodore
Roosevelt. Subsequent research determined that the herd is actually an elk subspecies.?

Other Mammals. The park is home to the cougar, the elk’s principal predator, as well as
the black bear, black-tailed deer, coyote, and bobcat. Several smaller animals that are
found only on the peninsula reside here. The Olympic marmot, readily visible to visitors
at Hurricane Ridge, is a distinct species. Subspecies unique to the Olympic Peninsula
include the Olympic snow mole, the Olympic Mazama pocket gopher, the Olympic
chipmunk, and the Olympic version of the shorttail weasel. Mountain goats, transplanted
from British Columbia and Alaska in the mid-1920s, thrive in the higher elevations of the
park. Their presence poses a severe natural resource management problem (see chapter
8.) The wolf was hunted and trapped until it disappeared from the Olympic Peninsula
sometime before 1930.

River and Lake Fish. The streams of the park host several anadromous fish runs. All
five species of Pacific salmon, as well as steelhead and cutthroat trout, migrate up the
park’s streams to spawn. The salmon are genetically distinct native stock, biologically
distinguishable from salmon raised in hatcheries. The Beardslee trout of Lake Crescent
is also a genetically distinct native species. (See chapter 8.)

Coastal Strip Intertidal Zone. This resource, which is the area between the high- and low-
water marks along the Coastal Strip, is a recent addition to the park. Despite its
narrowness, it contains four different life zones that are based upon water contact. The
four zones are the spray, upper intertidal, middle intertidal, and lower intertidal.

These zones are distinguished by the amount of time each is exposed to sea water. The
spray zone receives only ocean spray at high tide and is defined by the presence of black

3 D. B. Houston, B. B. Moorhead, and R. W. Olson. "Roosevelt Elk Density in Old-Growth Forests of
Olympic National Park." Northwest Science 61 (1987): 1.
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lichen and two barnacle species — the little acorn and the common acorn. The upper .
intertidal zone is covered by water only at high tide and is defined by the presence of
rockweed and algae. The middle intertidal zone is covered by water approximately
twelve hours each day and is defined by markedly more diverse and complex sea life
forms, including two mussel species, the blue and the California; the ochre seastar, the
controlling predator of this zone; and the sea cabbage. The lower intertidal zone is
underwater except at low tide and is marked by the presence of split kelp and purple sea
urchins. It also contains a greater number of seaweed species, as well as sea stars, crabs,
and mollusks. The proximity of different and complex organisms in the intertidal zones
provides opportunities to test ecological theories on a small scale. These theories can
then be generalized to include much larger biological systems.*

Cultural Resources

Park cultural resources include archeological sites and historic structures, landscapes and

trails representing pioneer settlement, tourism, recreation, Forest Service administration,

and the presence of the National Park Service. Lake Crescent Lodge and the Rosemary

Inn, both National Register properties on Lake Crescent, date from 1915 and 1914,

respectively. Lake Crescent Lodge, where President Franklin D. Roosevelt stayed during

his visit to the park in October, 1937, although recently renovated and restored, retains

its original style, appearance, and atmosphere. The Rosemary Inn has also been

renovated and restored. It serves as the campus for the Olympic Park Institute’s

environmental education programs. (See chapter 9.) ‘

Pioneer settlement is represented by the Humes Cabin and the Roose homestead. The
Humes Cabin, located in the Elwha Valley, was built by Will and Grant Humes around
1900. It is the oldest settlement structure in the park. The Roose homestead is located
on a small prairie between Ozette Lake and Cape Alava on the Pacific Coast. The
present group of structures was built by Peter Roose in the early 1930s on the site of his
older cabin.®> Roose and his neighbor, Lars Ahlstrom, were at one time the westernmost
homesteaders in the contiguous United States.

The Forest Service era is represented by front- and back-country guard and ranger
stations, trail shelters, and miles of trail systems. The largest complex is the Elwha
Ranger Station, which includes residences, a ranger station, and a maintenance complex.
Structures such as the Elwha and Altaire campground shelters are associated with the
presence of Civilian Conservation Corps camps on the peninsula during the 1930s. The
most ambitious Public Works Administration project in the park is the headquarters
complex built for the National Park Service in Port Angeles between 1938 and 1941.

4 Henry C. Warren, Olympic: The Story Behind the Scenery (Los Vegas: KC Publications, 1982), 40-51.

ST. Allan Comp et al. Historic Building Inventory: Olympic National Park (Seattle: National Park Service,
Pacific Northwest Region, 1984), 699, 1217-19.



This complex is also significant as an example of the last phase of the National Park
Service rustic style, which provided the design vocabulary for Park Service structures
throughout the system from the late 1920s to the outbreak of World War I1.

CONCLUSION

Olympic National Park contains spectacular and diverse resources. The park’s flora and
fauna, for the most part, exist as they have from time immemorial. They have been
protected because of the geographic isolation of the Olympic Peninsula, because its
ruggedness made pioneer settlement difficult, and because, in 1897, President Grover
Cleveland reserved much of the peninsula from settlement. In the 1930s, President
Franklin D. Roosevelt supported the establishment of a large national park on the
Olympic Peninsula. The National Park Service’s mandate is to preserve these resources
for present and future generations and to provide the park visitor with the opportunity to
experience at many different levels the existence of nature relatively unmodified by the
presence of man.



CHAPTER 2



Chapter 2
THE PASSIVE FEDERAL PERIOD:
PRESETTLEMENT TO FOREST RESERVE, 1774-1897

This chapter discusses the history of the Olympic Peninsula from its earliest observation
by European explorers to the February 22, 1897 proclamation by President Cleveland
establishing a forest reserve of more than two million acres and a permanent active
federal government presence on the Olympic Peninsula.

Prior to granting statehood to Washington in 1889, all lands in the territory were
controlled by the federal government and were managed passively. That is, they were
held by the United States for the sole purpose of entry and acquisition by prospective
farmers or mineral developers. Upon statehood, sovereignty over all lands within the
state, including unreserved lands of the United States, became vested in the state. Prior
to the formal tender of statehood, however, the territorial legislature disclaimed title to
all lands then owned by the United States. Most of the Olympic Peninsula, because it
was unoccupied and therefore unreserved, remained the property of the United States
and, until 1897, was managed as though the lands were still a territory.

This chapter reviews the coastal explorations of the Spanish and English, the settlement
patterns and economic activities of peninsula pioneers, 19th century attempts to explore
the areas which are now included in Olympic National Park, and the events that led to

the creation of the Olympic Forest Reserve. .

EARLY EUROPEAN EXPLORATION

The first documented European sighting of the Olympic Peninsula and its mountains was
by the Spanish explorer Juan Perez, captain of the Santiago, on August 11, 1774. He
named the highest peak in the range Santa Rosalia. This high peak was named Mount
Olympus by the English explorer Captain John Meares, who first sighted the mountain
on July 4, 1778. Meares chose the name because he felt that the rugged beauty of the
mountain and those surrounding it made it a residence befitting the gods of ancient

Greece.!

In 1792, British Captain George Vancouver led an expedition on what was to be the first
systematic exploration and mapping of the Pacific Northwest coastline. Vancouver used
Meares’s name for the mountain on his maps. He extended the concept by naming the
surrounding mountains the Olympics. Because of the primacy and accuracy of

! Robert L. Wood. Men, Mules, and Mountains: Lieutenant O’Neil’s Olympic Expeditions (Binghamton, N.
Y.: Vail-Ballou Press, 1976), 1.



Vancouver’s maps, the place names he devised or adopted generally endured.
Therefore, Mount Olympus "became the first geographic feature within the
present...State of Washington" to have an official place name.?

Vancouver’s expedition also named Grays Harbor in honor of its discoverer, Shipmaster
Robert Gray. Gray, who had served on the crew that first carried the American flag
around the world, was the first American to sail the waters off the Olympic Peninsula.
On May 7, 1792, Gray entered a large bay aboard his ship, the Columbia Rediviva. He
named the bay Bullfinch’s Harbor, after one of the Boston shipowners who had financed
his expedition. However, shortly thereafter, Vancouver sent one of his officers to
explore and evaluate Gray’s discovery. The officer named the bay Gray’s Harbor in his
report and Vancouver duly recorded that name on his maps. Vancouver’s place name
endured, in part because his maps were published and Gray’s were not.?

Dangerous coastal sailing conditions and hostile natives hindered early exploration. The
coastal waters of the Pacific Northwest, especially those above Rialto, challenged
navigators with violent winter storms, hidden or obscured rock formations, and
treacherous tides. Cape Johnson was given its name by Vancouver in 1792 in memory of
a Scandinavian fisherman who lost his life in a wreck near the cape.® In October 1893,

a Chilean ship was trapped by a gale and smashed against the rocks near the same site.
Another Chilean ship, the W. J. Pirrie, was lost here in 19203 Giant’s Graveyard, a

dangerous rock formation near Point of Arches, was not charted until 1887.6

The Native American inhabitants of the western coast of the peninsula also posed a
threat to European explorers. On July 14, 1775, a seven-member foraging party was sent
inland by Juan Francisco de la Bodega y Quadra, captain of the Sonora, to replenish the
ship’s water supply, gather firewood, and find a replacement for the ship’s topmast. The
party, armed with muskets, cutlasses, pistols, cartridge boxes, and several hatchets,
landed on the shore south of the Quinault River. They were met by a party of 300
Indians and killed after two hours of fighting.” A similar event occurred in July of 1787.
Charles Barclay, British captain of the Imperial Eagle, sent six sailors to the mouth of the
Hoh River, where they were killed by Indians.

2 Smitty Parratt. Gods & Goblins: A Field Guide to Place Names of Olympic National Park (Port Angeles,
WA: CP Publications, Inc., 1984), 131.

3 Ruth Kirk. Exploring the Olympic Peninsula (Seattle: University of Washington Press), 56.
4 Parratt. Gods & Goblins, 22, 25.

3 Tbid.

¢ Ibid., 53.

7 Ibid., 35.




Another event illustrating the problems faced by early explorers oceurred in 1808. On
November 1, a Russian brig, the Saint Nicholas, was engaged in fur trading when she was
wrecked at Rialto Beach. The crew of twenty-one managed to abandon ship, but were
attacked later the same day by the Quileute Tribe. The crew used their superior
firepower to fend off the attack and fled south toward Grays Harbor to meet another
Russian ship, The Quileutes followed at a safe distance until the crew reached the Hoh
village, where the crew met with what they presumed to be a friendly group of Hoh
natives and negotiated for safe passage across the Hoh River.

The Indians took some crew members in two canoes and, when they reached the middle
of the river, pulled cedar plugs out of the bottoms of the canoes, which then sank,
leaving the Russians to struggle in the middle of the Hoh River with their gear. Four
were taken prisoner, and the rest fled up the Hoh where they spent part of the winter.
In February 1809 the group moved back downriver. A few surrendered to a party of
Makah Indians; the rest were captured and held by the Hoh and Quileute until they
were ransomed in 1810. They learned later that the Indians with whom they had
negotiated passage were not Hohs, but members of the attacking party who had
preceded them to the Hoh village.?

EARLY SETTLEMENT

The early European exploration resuited in the systematic mapping of much of the
Pacific Northwest coastline. The Vancouver expedition completed much of the work.
By 1800, sufficient exploration had been completed to allow for settlement to occur.,
During the first half of the 19th century, however, there was little permanent settlement.
The interior of the peninsula was as hostile to transportation as the coastline was to
navigation. A political dispute over the ownership of the territory after the War of 1812
between Britain and the United States also discouraged settlement.

During the first two decades of the 19th century, the principal economic activity on the
peninsula was fur trading. The British North West Company and America’s John Jacob
Astor competed for control of the trade. Astoria, the headquarters for Astor’s trading
operation, was established in May 1811, ten miles from the mouth of the Columbia River
on its south bank at the site of present-day Astoria, Oregon. It was captured by the
British Navy in 1814 and, for the next thirty years, the respective rights of the British and
Americans in the region were not defined. Fur prices declined. Thus, there was little
economic incentive for settlers to enter the region during the 1820s and 1830s. Unstable
political conditions added to the geographic factors inhibiting growth.

® Ibid., 142, See also The Wreck of the SV, Nikolai: Two Narratives of the First Russian Expedition to the
Oregon Country 1808-1810, ed. with an introduction by Kenneth N. Owens, trans. by Alton S. Donnelly (Portland,
OR: Western Imprints, The Press of the Oregon Historical Society, 1985).

9



During the 1840s, the eyes of eastern America began to look to the west. The Oregon
Trail, blazed in 1843, brought a new wave of immigrants to the Pacific Northwest, and
the June 15, 1846 treaty between Great Britain and the United States gave the United
States clear title up to the 49th parallel’ This enabled the federal government to
establish the Oregon Territory and formally define its boundaries. The leading candidate
to be the first territorial governor, Abraham Lincoln, turned down the offer. As a result,
Joseph Lane was appointed.’

The discovery of gold in California in 1849 not only attracted a large number of
immigrants westward, but also created a market for the principal resource of the
Olympic Peninsula — timber. Individual settlers began arriving on the peninsula in the
1840s. They tended to settle on the northern and eastern peripheries of the peninsula,
where they were protected from the harsh coastal weather by the Olympic Mountains.
No evidence exists to show that there was any settlement during the antebellum period
on the peninsula except along the coasts.

During the years 1853 through 1855, two events occurred which encouraged population
growth on the peninsula. First, in 1853, Congress established a separate territorial
government for Washington Territory and Isaac Stevens was named the first governor.
Second, during the years 1854 and 1855, Stevens worked diligently to establish stable and
peaceful relations with all the Indian tribes within the territory and on the peninsula by
signing a series of treaties. The treaties included the Treaty of Neah Bay, signed on.
January 31, 1855; the Treaty of Point-No-Point, signed on January 26, 1855; the Treaty of ‘
Point Elliott, signed on January 22, 1855; and a treaty with the coast tribes north of

Grays Harbor, signed on July 1, 1855."

The language of each treaty varied slightly, but all contained certain common elements.
The tribes agreed to relinquish ownership of most of the land that they occupied and to
reside peacefully on lands chosen by the U.S. government. They agreed to free their
slaves, to avoid trade with Canada, and to keep liquor off the designated reservation
areas. In return, the United States promised to pay the tribes a fair amount for the
lands ceded to the government, to protect the rights of the tribes and their members to
fish in common in their usual and accustomed places, and to provide schools, doctors,
and other needed services.”

® Mary W. Avery. Washington: A History of the Evergreen State (Seattle: University of Washington Press), 141.

10 WPA Federal Writers' Program. Washington: A Guide to the Evergreen State (Portland, OR: Binfords &
Mort, 1941), 43.

1 Wood. Men, Mules, and Mountains, 2-3.
2 Edmond S. Meany. History of the State of Washington (New York: The MacMillan Company, 1909), 173-74.

B Avery. Washington: A History of the Evergreen State, 176-77.
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The first concentration of population sufficient to plat a town occurred at Port Townsend
on the northeastern corner of the peninsula in 1852, a year before the territorial
government was established. The town thrived for a number of years thereafter as a
port for ships entering or leaving Puget Sound. Port Gamble, Shelton, and Port Ludlow
were established within two to three years of the founding of Port Townsend.

Port Angeles, on the northern coast of the peninsula, was given its first developmental
boost by Victor Smith, United States Treasury agent, collector of customs for the Puget
Sound District, and land speculator. Settlers had begun to gather at this natural harbor
as early as 1857, and the 1860 census counted the members of the community as
residents of Cherbourg. (Cherbourg was an earlier name for the townsite because Isaac
Stevens, who represented Washington Territory in Congress during the years before the
Civil War, had compared the harbor with the French seaport when seeking funds for a
military installation at Port Angeles.) Smith, who had a financial interest in the
Cherbourg Land Company, was a political operator with strong connections. He

- managed to persuade his friend, Secretary of the Treasury Salmon Chase, to recommend

to Congress that the customs office at Port Townsend be moved to Port Angeles. He
also prevailed on President Abraham Lincoln to proclaim Port Angeles a "National City."
In 1862, the president signed an executive order setting aside the Port Angeles townsite
as a lighthouse and military reserve, removing it from the public domain. In addition to
establishing a lighthouse on Ediz Hook, it was hoped that public sale of townsite lots
within the reserve would produce revenue for the Civil War-depleted federal treasury.!

ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

Since the beginning of permanent habitation of the Olympic Peninsula, the dominant
economic activity has been the harvest, milling, and transport of timber. In 1852, the
first sawmill in Jefferson County was built in Port Ludlow. Felling trees and floating
them to ships bound for California were among the earliest economic activities at Port
Townsend.” At the eastern tip of Grays Harbor, "Aberdeen and Hoquiam were born
of lumber, and through it chiefly they lived."¢

The main reason for the timber industry’s dominance was the immense value of the
resource. During the 19th century, the stands of old-growth timber today found almost
solely within Olympic National Park extended throughout the western half of the
peninsula. Near Grays Harbor stood the greatest stand of Douglas fir ever found in the

Y paul J. Martin. Port Angeles, Washington: A History, vol. 1 (Port Angeles: Peninsula Publishing Company, 1983), 23.
5 WPA Writers’ Project. Washington: A Guide to the Evergreen State, 546-547.
16 Ibid., 166.
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Pacific Northwest. Township 21 N, Range 9 E, abutted the harbor. This single 36-
square-mile tract was logged for old growth for thirty years.!”

In the 1880s, with the development of better timber-harvesting equipment, the speed
with which trees could be cut increased, as did the value of the peninsula’s timber. The
introduction of the steam engine, which moved north from the redwood forests to the
peninsula in 1882, drove this development.®® During the 1880s, the ability of a logger
to cut more efficiently within a stand of timber led to an increase both in mill capacity
and in the number of mills. The equipment for the first Aberdeen mill was brought in
by George Simpson in 1882. The mill was up and running by 1884. Hoquiam,
Aberdeen’s sister city at the eastern end of Grays Harbor, had a mill by 1885.” Mills
were also built in Port Angeles and Port Crescent and "proliferated on the Hood Canal
side" of the peninsula.?

A second reason for the dominance of timber in the peninsula economy was that it was
the only known resource on the peninsula. The heavy stands of timber prevented or
severely hindered the development of agriculture, and the inhabited areas of the
peninsula did not contain mineral wealth of any kind. Newspapers in the Puget Sound
area speculated that the unexplored interior of the peninsula contained significant
mineral resources, but no actual discoveries were documented.?! The speculation

concerning mineral wealth remained st that, 1he timber resgurce was substant:
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fact, seemingly infinite. The technology for exploiting the resource existed. And by
the economy of every community on the peninsula was based on timber.

7 1bid., 167.

'8 Kirk. Exploring the Olympic Peninsula, 12.

' WPA Writers’ Projecf. Washington: A Guide to the Evergreen State, 167.
® Kirk. Exploring the Olympic Peninsula, 12.

* Wood. Men, Mules, and Mountains, 3.
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INLAND EXPLORATION: 1885 - 1891
The O’Neil Expedition (1885)

Some inland exploration may have occurred as early as 1855, when Indian agents
Michael Simmons and Benjamin Shaw reportedly crossed the Olympic Mountains by way
of the Quinault and Skokomish rivers. However, no systematic exploration of the
interior of the peninsula was attempted until July 6, 1885, when Brig. Gen. Nelson Miles
ordered Lt. Joseph O’Neil to proceed to the section of country west of Puget Sound to
conduct a reconnaissance into the Olympic range of mountains. O’Neil, who had
received a bachelor’s degree in science from Notre Dame, was at this time stationed at
Vancouver Barracks on the Columbia River. A party of six men and eight mules
travelled to Port Townsend and from there took a steamer down the strait to Port
Angeles on July 16. At Port Angeles they were joined by Norman Smith, a son of Victor
Smith, the town’s founder. The exploring party entered the mountains the next day.
They found the going more difficult than expected. On some days they made the
anticipated three miles of progress. On other days, because of the density of the timber
and undergrowth, they travelled less than a quarter-mile a day.?

O’Neil was recalled on August 26, when he received orders to report to Fort
Leavenworth, Kansas for further training. By that time, the exploration party had
managed to establish a "main-cache" camp on Hurricane Ridge and explore the Elwha
Valley. O’Neil and a companion had explored almost as far south as Mount Anderson
in the eastern Olympics. The group also built a trail that made it much easier to reach
Hurricane Ridge. The trail was used by the Forest Service after the area was included in
a forest reserve and eventuallg' evolved into the present parkway which runs from Port
Angeles to Hurricane Ridge.?

In 1883, the transcontinental line of the Northern Pacific Railroad reached the mouth of
the Snake River, where it connected with the Oregon Railway and Navigation Company
line. This line ran along the south bank of the Columbia River to Portland. From there
a branch line ran to Tacoma.” The arrival of the transcontinental railroad brought
rapid population growth to the Puget Sound area in the 1880s. This growth in
population led to statehood in 1889. It also generated pressure to explore the interior of
the Olympic Peninsula to determine whether it contained mineral deposits or other
exploitable resources and to assess its agricultural potential.

2 Ibid., 13, 15, 18.

2 Ibid., 41-42.

% Avery. Washington: A History of the Evergreen State, 316-17.
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The Press Expedition (1889-90)

An October 23, 1889 story in the Seattle Press reported a conversation with Governor
Elisha P. Ferry, who "expressed himself very forcibly" in favor of exploring the
peninsula’s interior. The Press article was reprinted in newspapers nationwide, in part
because Henry M. Stanley’s African explorations had made the existence of unknown
and unexplored areas a national fascination. The result was a steady flow of inquiries,
which, for the most part, concerned the possibilities of mounting an exploration party.®

However, some of the correspondence from local figures may have indicated that some
preliminary exploration had been done, and that further and more complete efforts were
pending. Judge James Wickersham of Tacoma had hiked more than 20 miles up the
Skokomish River in the summer of 1889 and was planning, in conjunction with the ,
Buckley Banner, an expedition from Lake Cushman through the Olympics to the Strait of
Juan de Fuca. Lieutenant O’Neil was also planning another exploration effort, "this time
across the southern part of the mountains."® ’

The letter which most interested the Press staff was written on November 6, 1839 by

James Christie. Christie stated that he was planning to enter the Olympics "this next

month" and presented his credentials as an explorer. Christie alleged that he had

explored various regions of Canada between the 49th Parallel and the Arctic Circle and '

had discovered the Peace River coalfields. He had been visiting friends in North .
Yakima when the Press article appeared and was anxious to explore the unknown

territory before departing to Africa. He then noted that he did not have sufficient funds

to adequately equip his entire party and asked, "Why not let the PRESS give its

countenance and support to an expedition for the clearing up of a mystery lying at the

very door of Seattle?"”’

The Press ownership agreed to bear the cost of equipping the party and, on December 8,
1889, the party embarked for Port Angeles. After conferring with local citizens, Christie
determined to follow the Elwha to its source in the interior Olympics and leave the
range by following the Quinault River.

It is difficult to assess why Christie was determined to begin the exploration in

December. Christie’s letter to the Press indicated that he was planning to travel to
Africa, presumably to share in Stanley’s glory, and he probably felt that his Alaska
explorations had inured him to the cold. The Press clearly did not discourage him,

3 Robert L. Wood. Across the Olympic Mountains: The Press Expedition, 1889-90 (Seattle and London: The
Mountaineers and the University of Washington Press, 1967), 15.

% Ibid., 25.

7 1bid, 16.
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perhaps because Wickersham and O’Neil’s plans were well known. If Christie had
waited until spring, the paper might not have the honor of sponsoring the first
exploration and crossing of the Olympic Mountains.

For whatever reason, the choice was not a good one. The party of six men, four dogs,
and two mules suffered terribly during one of the peninsula’s worst winters.
Nevertheless, five men and three dogs completed the route as planned. (The sixth
explorer, a physician, was called back to tend to his seriously ill wife before the tough
going began.) They reached the headwaters of the Elwha on April 24, 1890, and arrived
at Aberdeen on May 21, 1890, becoming the first group to travel a north-south(west)
route through the Olympic Mountains.

While the Press expedition probably heightened public awareness of the need to explore
the interior of the Olympic Peninsula, it did not bring back much significant information
about the interior’s resources. One reason was that the most highly trained observer was
the member of the party forced to return early to attend his wife. Another reason was
presented by A. A. Smith in the July, 1907 issue of Steel Points, who pointed out that
"little or nothing was attempted in the way of side trips." As a result, "little information
of a lasting or valuable character was acquired."®

The O’Neil Expedition (1890)

Shortly after the Press party emerged from the Olympics, Lt. Joseph O’Neil organized a
second expedition to explore an east-to-west route across the southern part of the
Olympic Peninsula. After O’Neil returned to his post at Vancouver, he became secretary
of the newly-formed Oregon Alpine Club, which later became the Mazamas.® O’Neil
and William Steel, chairman of the Alpine Club’s Exploration Department, persuaded
Brig. Gen. John Gibbon to authorize another expedition. Special Order No. 63 was
published on June 20, 1890.%

O’Neil and his party sailed from Port Townsend on July 1, 1890 aboard the sternwheeler
Louise, travelling down Hood Canal to the mouth of Lilliwaup Creek. The party
consisted of ten enlisted men, a civilian packer in charge of the mule train, a dozen pack
animals, and a large hound called Jumbo. There were also three scientific experts
provided by the Oregon Alpine Club: Louis F. Henderson, botanist; Nelson E. Linsley,
assayist and mineralogist, known as Colonel Linsley because of his Civil War career; and

3 A. A. Smith. "The Olympics," Steel Points, vol. 1, no.4, (July, 1907): 143-44.

® Louis F. Henderson. "Early Experiences of a Botanist in the Northwest: The O’Neil Olympic Expedition,
1890," (Unpublished manuscript, University of Oregon Library, 1932): 1. Wood. Men, Mules, and Mountains, 48.

® Wood. Men, Mules, and Mountains, 51.
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Bernard J. Bretherton, naturalist.® The expedition established a camp at Lake
Cushman and began to scout a route along the Skokomish River for the mule trail.
Most of the soldiers worked on the trail, while smaller parties sought out the best route
in advance of the trail work and explored the resources of large tracts of the southern
Olympic Peninsula.

The ruggedness of the terrain made progress difficult. In a talk given in 1932 to the
Oregon Audubon Society, Louis Henderson, the expedition botanist, recalled that the
mineral expert accompanying the expedition, Colonel Linsley, grew increasingly
frustrated by the operation. Henderson quoted him as saying, "Curse this country! I
have prospected all the mountains of the United States and I never saw one to equal this
in difficulty of progression and at the same time in lack of any valuable minerals."*

On July 23, the O’Neil party met the Wickersham Banner expedition, which resembled a
family outing more than it did O’Neil’s systematic and scientific exploration effort.
Wickersham had begun at Lake Cushman and was planning to travel north through the
mountains to Port Angeles. The party included several ladies who were delicately
dressed for the location and objective, and a couple on their honeymoon. There were no
scientific experts. In fact, half the original party had elected to remain at Lake
Cushman.®

On September 22, Bretherton, Linsley, and John Danton, the camp cook, ascended the
peak that they had concluded was Mount Olympus. Robert Wood, the closest student of
the O’Neil and Press expeditions, has concluded that the group actually ascended the
Athena Group, four pinnacles that make up the South Peak of Mount Olympus. The
party ascended the western slope of the highest peak in the group and placed a copper
box on or near the summit. The box contained a lead pencil, a glove belonging to one
of the ladies, a deck of cards, two army buttons, a beer check, shoelaces, a visiting card,
and three cablegrams.*

The July 1907 issue of Steel Points, which carried the only published account of the
O’Neil group’s climb (it was written by Bretherton and edited by Steel), also carried an
article by George H. Himes asserting that the first persons to climb Mount Olympus
were woodsman B. F. Shaw and Col. Michael Simmons. The two were members of a
party exploring the Olympics in the summer of 1854. However, Himes offered no

3! Henderson. "Early Experiences of a Botanist," 1.
%2 Ibid., 2.

3 Wood. Men, Mules, and Mountains, 127.

* B. J. Bretherton. "Ascent of Mount Qlympus," Steel Points, vol. 1, no. 4 (July, 1907): 153.
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‘ evidence to support this assertion and, even if he had, the question of whether this party
had correctly identified Mount Olympus would remain.®

The significance of the O’Neil expedition is far greater than that of either the Press or
the Wickersham Banner expeditions. The party managed to cut a ninety-three-mile trail
up the North Fork of the Skokomish River and down the East Fork of the Quinault,
which serves today as part of Olympic National Park’s trail system, and enabled experts
to conduct a thorough investigation of the resources of much of the interior of the
Olympic Mountains, including the North Fork of the Quinault, the Queets River valley,
and the region around Mount Olympus.*

O’Neil sent a final report to his commanding officer upon completion of the expedition.
It concluded that, although the outer slopes contained significant timber resources, the
interior of the peninsula contained rare and interesting, but commercially useless, flora
and fauna, and that no mineral resource of commercial value existed. Virtually all of its
conclusions were confirmed by further investigation. O’Neil closed his report by stating
that "while the country on the outer slope of these mountains is valuable, the interior is
useless for all practicable purposes." For this reason, he wrote, the interior "would...serve
admirably as a national park. There are numerous elk...that should be protected."”’

Judge Wickersham, leader of the Banner expedition, also advocated that a national park
be established in the Olympics. He and O’Neil met on July 23, and it is possible that the

‘ two discussed the concept of a national park during their meeting. Prior to his meeting
with Wickersham, O’Neil had not suggested publicly that a national park should be
created, and the concept does not appear in his report until its conclusion. In any case,
O’Neil continued to advocate the creation of a national park on the peninsula whenever
he gave lectures or presentations on his expedition.®

% Ibid., 159.
% Wood. Men, Mules, and Mountains, 387.
¥ U.S. Congress. Senate. Select Committee on Forest Reservations and the Protection of Game. Letter from

the assistant adjutant general transmitting copy of the report of Licutenant Joseph O’Neil, Fourteenth Infantry,
of his exploration of the Olympic Mountains, Washington, from June to October, 1890. 54th Congress, 1st sess.,

1896. S. Doc. 59, 20.
‘ % Wood. Men, Mules, and Mountains, 390.

17




INLAND SETTLEMENT: 1888 - 1897

During the years that the various expeditions were investigating the resources of the
interior of the Olympic Peninsula, other groups of hardy people were attempting to show
that the interior possessed the potential to develop as a commercially significant
agricultural resource. The primary settlement activity during the 19th century on lands
within today’s park boundaries occurred in the Queets and Quinault river valleys and on
the shores of Lake Crescent and Lake Quinault. Settlement on the prairies near Ozette
Lake began in the last two decades of the 19th century. The ruggedness of the terrain
and the density of the timber presented severe obstacles to those who attempted to settle
in the river valleys. The small prairies seem to have been capable of providing only
subsistence gardening and grazing.

Queets River Valley Settlement

The first efforts to settle the Queets River valley began during the winter of 1889, about
the same time as the Press expedition was getting under way. In early December, John J.
Banta and S. Price Sharp travelled from Tacoma to explore the possibilities for
‘homesteading west of Port Townsend. They met Charles Gilman and his son, Samuel, at
a way place on the Soleduck River. The Gilmans, who were attempting to locate a route
for a railroad, offered to cover Banta’s and Sharp’s expenses if they wished to travel with
them to Grays Harbor. On December 23, the party reached a site in the Queets River
Valley eight miles upstream from the ocean, which Banta decided to claim as his
homestead. The party then continued to Grays Harbor, arriving there on January 4,
1890 When Banta and Sharp returned to Tacoma, they began to work to establish a
colony in the Queets River valley. By spring of 1890, they had persuaded twenty-one
people to claim homesteads in the area.

The Ozette Lake Settlement

Immigrants, most of whom were Scandinavian, attempted to establish an agricultural
community around Ozette Lake in the late 1880s. The inclusion of much of their land in
the 1897 Olympic Forest Reserve served to discourage further settlement because
inclusion in the reserve meant that no roads or other elements of commercial
infrastructure could be developed without the approval of the federal government.

When this land was removed from the Forest Reserve in 1900, a second attempt to settle

¥ Ibid., 399. -
“ Ibid.

18




the area was made. However, most of the settlers had to rely on outside work to
maintain a sufficient income level to survive.*!

Lake Crescent and Lake Quinault Settlements

Settlement at Lake Crescent had begun three years earlier, when John Hanson settled on
the site which would become known as Ovington’s Resort after the turn of the century.
Settlement along the shores of Lake Quinault was begun by Alfred Noyes during the
winter of 1889. John Crumback of the Press expedition and William Wiser of O’Neil’s -
1890 expedition may have been among the early settlers in the Quinault Valley.”? A

few hotels and summer cabins appeared on the shores of Lake Crescent and Lake
Quinault as early as the 1890s.

Settlement efforts on the lands now within Olympic National Park did not result in
viable commercial agriculture, although homesteads in some of the river valleys
produced subsistence crops and cattle. In any case, early settlers did not fully support
themselves by farming. By the 1890s, it became clear that no significant potential for
agriculture existed within the present park boundaries.

The reasons for the failure of agricultural homesteads were harsh and numerous. The
cost of clearing land was exorbitant because of the size and density of the timber stands
and undergrowth. The local market was small and the only access was by river. To a
logger, dense stands of large trees are profitable; to a farmer, they are not. To a logger,
river access to the market is sufficient; to a farmer, it is not. In short, many of the
factors that made exploitation of the peninsula’s timber resources profitable made

agriculture unprofitable.

Therefore, by the mid-1890s, both inland exploration and inland settlement efforts had
demonstrated that the sole resource on the Olympic Peninsula that had the potential for
commercial development was timber. Although a thorough geological survey had not
been done, early expeditions had not indicated the presence of mineral resources in
sufficient quantity to allow for commercial development, and agriculture did not have

. sufficient potential to be commercially successful. During this same period, the U. S.

government had begun to evaluate its timber management practices at the national level.
The outcome would be of immense importance to the economy and the history of the
peninsula--the creation of the Olympic Forest Reserve.

4 Gail E. H. Evans. Historic Resource Study: Olympic National Park, Washington (Seattle: National Park
Service, Pacific Northwest Region, Cultural Resources Division, 1983), 70-73.

42 Parratt. Gods & Goblins, 139.
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CREATION OF THE OLYMPIC FOREST RESERVE: 1870 - 1897

The 1870 Census was the first to compile forestry statistics. These statistics were
presented by Dr. Franklin Hough, superintendent of the 1870 Census, in a paper
delivered to the American Association for the Advancement of Science in 1873. They
showed an appalling reduction in the American stands of timber. However, neither
Hough’s paper nor the 1877 recommendation by Secretary of the Interior Carl Schurz
“that all timberland still belonging to the federal government be withdrawn from entry
under the homestead and pre-emption laws" had a dramatic effect on public opinion or
the policies of the federal government.”

By 1891, abuse of the nation’s timber supply by private corporations had become so
rampant and irresponsible that Congress was compelled to act to protect this resource.
It enacted the "Act to repeal the timber-culture laws and other purposes" on March 3,
1891. This act, in part, authorized the president of the United States to "set apart and
reserve in any State or Territory having public land bearing forests" public reservations
by means of proclamation.*

In April of 1891, shortly after the enactment of this legislation, Judge Wickersham, who
had been trying in vain to persuade publishers to feature his account of the Banner
expedition, forwarded his maps and papers to Major Johin Wesley Powell, superiniendent
of the U.S. Geological Survey.* At this time, the Geological Survey was beginning a
reconnaissance to determine what areas might be eligible for reservation under the
March 3 act. Wickersham’s correspondence in all likelihood raised the level of federal

awareness of the resources of the Olympic Peninsula.

However, there was no evidence of concrete presidential action until February 15, 1896,
when Secretary of the Interior Hoke Smith wrote to Professor Wolcott Gibbs, president
of the National Academy of Sciences. Smith noted that his predecessors in office had
been trying for more than twenty years to point out that, because of inadequate and
unclear legislation, no coherent national timber management policy existed. He
requested that Gibbs provide, through the National Academy, "an investigation and
report...upon the inauguration of a rational forest policy for the forested lands of the
United States.™6

 Carsten Lien. "The Olympic Boundary Struggle,” The Mountaineer, vol. 52, (1 March 1959): 18.
“ U. S. Statutes At Large, vol. 26, 1103

 James Wickersham. "A National Park in the Olympics ... 1890," The Living Wildemess, no. 77 (Summer-Fall
1961): 3. :

“ Secretary Smith to Wolcott Gibbs. 15 February 1896. Records of the U.S. Geological Survey, Record
Group 57, Hague Papers, File 8 "Forest Reserves, 1890-97," National Archives, Washington, D.C.
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On June 11, 1896, Congress appropriated $25,000 to support the writing of the report,
and Gibbs appointed the National Forestry Commission to conduct the necessary
research, Professor Charles Sargent, director of Harvard’s Arnold Arboretum, served as
commission chairman. The remaining members were Brig. Gen. Henry L. Abbott, U.S.
Army Corps of Engineers; Professor William Brewer of Yale; Mr. Arnold Hague, U.S.
Geological Survey; Mr. Alexander Agassiz, curator of Harvard’s Museum of Comparative
Zoology; and Mr. Gifford Pinchot, professional forester.

The commission appointed Hague and Pinchot to a special committee to obtain forestry
information from government documents. The two men gathered correspondence from
the various federal agencies whose missions included management of public domain
timber and interviewed government employees to identify potential forest reserves.

As part of this fact-gathering process, Hague and Pinchot obtained a list of reserves
proposed by the General Land Office. This list may have served as the basis for
selecting the reserves proclaimed by President Grover Cleveland on February 22, 1897,
although the General Land Office’s list of proposed reserves did not include any in the
state of Washington. Hague and Pinchot reported to the full committee that,
"information at hand indicates large areas in this State [Washington] suitable for
reservations.” They then noted that the Mazamas, "an alpine club already very active in
the cause of forest preservation on the Pacific slope,” were preparing a detailed
statement for the commission’s consideration.”’

President Cleveland was sufficiently interested in this project to give time for an
interview with either Hague or Pinchot. The president urged that the report be
completed in time for him to refer to it in his annual message to Congress. In response
to questions concerning the scope of the final report, Cleveland advised the commission
to "take up the organization of a forest service first, and then the question of more
reserves. Let the plan be one that looks small, and at first costs little, and yet has in it
the elements of growth,"®

In its final, full report on May 1, 1897, the commission heeded President Cleveland’s
advice. However, on February 1, 1897, when Cleveland was beginning the last month of
his presidency, Chairman Sargent reported the commission’s forest reserve
recommendations to the academy. Gibbs forwarded these recommendations to David
Francis, the new secretary of the Interior, who in turn forwarded them to the president
with a recommendation that he sign them. The ninth entry on the recommendation list

“" Report of the Special Committee Appointed To Obtain Information From Official Sources: Information From
Maps and Documents, 16 May 1896, Records of the Geological Survey, RG 57, Hague Papers, File 8, "Forest
Reserves, 1890-97," 6, National Archives, Washington, D.C.

“ bid., 7.
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was the Olympic Forest Reserve. The commission offered the following description of
the proposed reserve:

This proposed reserve occupies the high and broken Olympic Mountains region in
northwestern Washington, and contains an estimated area of 2,188,800 acres. This
is a region of steep and jagged mountains, their highest peaks clothed with glaciers
and with perpetual snow. The forests here, watered by more copious rains than fall
on any other part of the United States, are composed of enormous spruces, firs,
and cedars, and in productiveness are surpassed in the world only by the redwood
forests of the California coast region...This proposed reserve no doubt contains for
its area the largest and most valuable body of timber belonging to the nation; and
here is the only part of the United States where the forest unmarked by fire or the
axe still exists over a great area in its primeval splendor.”

Cleveland followed the secretary’s suggestion on February 22, 1897, establishing thirteen
forest reserves by presidential proclamation ten days before the end of his term. The
consequent uproar in Congress was so great that Cleveland had to block outright repeal
of the proclamation by pocket veto. In the June 4, 1897 Interior Department
Appropriation Bill, Congress postponed the effective date of the proclamation to March
1, 1898 to allow for final entry on the lands included in the reserves.

The Cleveland proclamation was one of the most significant events in the history of the
Olympic Peninsula because it established a large, permanent, active federa: presenc
the peninsula. The congressional suspension of the proclamation until March 1, 1898
had little effect on the Olympic Forest Reserve, because there were not many entry
claims. After March 1, 1898, the federal government no longer served merely as title
caretaker of land on the Olympic Peninsula. Rather, the federal government had limited
the access of private interests to the peninsula’s sole natural resource with the potential
for commercial development. It became by far the largest single owner and manager of
those lands and resources. This presence was initially denounced by local economic
interests, and subsequent reductions in the size of the reserve changed the extent of
federal ownership. But its endurance gradually served to reshape the issue, which, as the
next two chapters show, changed from whether the federal government should be a
dominant presence on the peninsula to what form that presence would take.

o laroa ¢+ artivae fadaral nracanca non
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® Secretary D. R. Francis to President Cleveland. 2 February 1897. Correspondence of the Office of the
Secretary of the Interior, Lands and Railroads Division, RG 48, File 1415, 9-10, National Archives, Washington,
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Chapter 3
FEDERAL PRESENCE ON THE OLYMPIC
PENINSULA:
THE UNITED STATES FOREST SERVICE, 1897-1933

This chapter discusses the events during the years in which the U.S. Forest Service was
the dominant federal agency on the Olympic Peninsula. It describes the efforts to reduce
the forest reserve established by President Cleveland in 1897, the early management
practices of the Forest Service and its predecessor agency in the General Land Office,
the creation and reduction of Mount Olympus National Monument, and the evolution of
Forest Service management practices in the 1920s. It concludes with a discussion of the
transfer of jurisdiction over Mount Olympus National Monument from the Forest Service
to the National Park Service in the winter of 1933-34.

REDUCTION OF THE OLYMPIC FOREST RESERVE: 1897-1901

The reduction in the size of the Olympic Forest Reserve resulted from local opposition
to the size--and in many cases to the existence--of the reserve. Another contributing
factor was the fact that the federal agency with the most direct responsibility for
managing the reserve shared the perspective of those who were opposed to the reserve.
Some disagreement between federal agencies slowed the process, but the reserve was
reduced after the disagreement was resolved.

The Olympic Forest Reserve was formally established in March 1898 in accordance with
the provisions of the 1897 Interior Appropriation Bill. Perhaps because of the
congressional postponement of the effective date of the proclamation, reaction to the
creation of the reserve developed slowly on the peninsula. However, when the local
population began expressing opinions to federal officials, the opinions were negative.
For the most part, political officials and local business organizations contended that the
reserve was too large and contained a significant amount of agricultural land.

J.W. Cloes, Olympic Forest Reéerve

A September 22, 1898 letter to Commissioner J. W. Cloes of the Olympic Forest Reserve
from Thomas Aldwell, Clallam County auditor, enumerated most of the local arguments
against the size of the reserve. Aldwell enclosed statistics which showed that the reserve
included all but 240,000 acres of Clallam County’s 1.47 million acres. He also indicated
that 450,000 acres of good farmland and precincts containing 358 people who had voted
in the last election were included in the reserve. Aldwell said that the proclamation
inhibited the economic growth of “one of the heretofore most progressive and ambitious
Counties in this rapidly advancing State" because it had forced innocent and presumably
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successful settlers to abandon their claims to land within the reserve and prevented .
further settlement on forest reserve acreage." In short, Aldwell argued that agricultural
growth within Clallam County was inhibited by the creation of the forest reserve.

Other inquiries or comments seem to have reached the commissioner of the General
Land Office earlier than Aldwell’s letter. On August 3, 1989, he instructed
Commissioner Cloes to investigate the problems in Clallam County and report on the
question of what lands might be removed from the reserve. Cloes completed his
investigation and reported to the commissioner on November 2, 1898. His report
supported Aldwell’s contentions.

Cloes reported that he had begun his inspection tour "on a good country road
constructed at an immense cost to the entire county," which would be overgrown unless it
were removed from the reserve. The road took him through Beaver and Sappho, "once
prosperous communities, but now about deserted," to Tyee.? Cloes found that both
Beaver and Tyee were located on or near prairies which has great agricultural potential,
as did Forks Prairie, which he visited the next day.

Continuing south, Cloes reached the Bogachiel River, the southern boundary of Clallam
County. He found no agricultural land south of the Bogachiel and recommended that all
land below the Bogachiel be kept in the reserve. However, he found that, in general, the
creation of the Olympic Forest Reserve had caused great hardship to certain agricultural
areas of Clallam County and that the interests of the local communities and the federal
government would best be served by removing those lands from the reserve. He
concluded his report by asserting that the scientific commission that made the
recommendation setting aside the Olympic Forest Reserve had travelled only from Port
Crescent to Lake Crescent to the Hot Springs and back, leaving much of the potential
reserve unexplored and thereby failing to determine the number of people attempting to

settle within the area.?

1 Aldwell to Cloes. 22 September 1898. RG 49, Div. R National Forests - Olympic, File 102458, 1, National
Archives, Washington, D.C. (Hereinafter cited as NA).

2 Cloes to commissioner, General Land Office. 2 November 1898. RG 49, Div. R, National Forests - Olympic,
pt. 1, File 117631, 1-2, NA.

? Ibid., 5-6.
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U.S. Geological Survey

Officials in Jefferson County, which borders Clallam County on the south, also requested
that the federal government reduce the size of the reserve. J. B. Hogg, Jefferson County
treasurer, wrote to the director of the Geological Survey requesting the exclusion of
eleven townships in Jefferson County. The director assigned Harry Gannett, a survey
geographer, to investigate the request. Gannett reported that the lands in question were
all heavily timbered, and remote from and inaccessible to markets for agricultural
products. He concluded that "in this request for the relinquishment of lands from the
forest reserve the presumption is clearly that the land is wanted, not by the settler for
agricultural use, but by the luraberman" and recommended that the land be retained in

the reserve.*
Gifford Pinchot, Department of Agriculture

Gannett’s conclusion did not contradict Cloes’s position because the land in question was
south of the Bogachiel. However, the secretary of the Interior circulated Cloes’s report
throughout the department for review and evaluation. The director of the Geological
Survey in turn requested the opinion of Gifford Pinchot, who was working with the
Forestry Division of the Department of Agriculture. Pinchot’s reply flatly contradicted
Cloes’s conclusions concerning the nature of the land and the impact of the creation of
the forest reserve on settlers in the area.

Pinchot noted that he had been a member of the committee which had visited the
peninsula and identified the area to be reserved. He stated that settlers were
abandoning their claims, and had been for some time, because the cost of clearing the
land was greater than the potential return from agriculture. "The cost of this clearing is
in the neighborhood of $200.00 per acre, and the cleared land is worth less than a fourth
of that sum." While he agreed with Cloes that the prairies might have agricultural value,
he concluded that, except for the prairies, "I saw no land of any extent so well suited for
agriculture as for forestry."” Pinchot also observed that the terms of the reservation
permitted the president to exclude any lands clearly shown to be more valuable for
agriculture than timber and that the rights of settlers were fully protected by the
language of the reservation.®

¢ Commissioner, General Land Office to the secretary of the Interior. 6 March 1899. RG 48, Lands and
Railroads Division, File 1415, 2, NA.

3 Pinchot to Walcott. 13 March 1899. RG 49, Division R, National Forests - Olympic, pt. 1, File 1154, 1-2,
NA.

¢ Ibid,, 2.
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Henry Gannett was also asked to evaluate Cloes’s report, and he confirmed Pinchot’s
conclusions. He observed that the land to be excluded from the reserve "embraces
practically all the land containing merchantable timber, leaving only the high mountains,
upon which timber is inferior in quality and stand." He pointed out that the area of
450,000 acres in question contained almost 7 billion board feet of timber, 25 percent of
which was tideland spruce, "probably the finest body of timber of this valuable species in
the country" and 50 percent of which was cedar, "of much value for the manufacture of
shingles." Gannett also offered an alternative remedy to the removal of the land from
the reserve to solve the problem:

I would suggest...that instead of reducing the area of the reserve, it be provided that
all lands which can be shown to be more valuable for agriculture than for other
purposes, be opened to entry, wherever found, the purpose of the government being
to retain the timber lands in its own hands.”

In evaluating the merit of the requests for the reduction of the Olympic Forest Reserve,
the secretary of the Interior was faced with two conflicting agency opinions. The
Forestry Division of the General Land Office had concluded that the settlers were being
harmed and compelled to abandon their efforts to settle on land of genuine agricultural
potential because of the reserve. The Geological Survey, and Pinchot, argued that
agricultural development was not possible, and that the primary beneficiaries of any
reduction of the reserve would be the timber inierests.

Binger Hermann, General Land Office

The director of the Geological Survey stated his agency’s position in a March 31, 1899
letter to Binger Hermann, commissioner of the General Land Office. He stated that the
reason for requests for reduction of the reserve was "not to make available for
settlement, agricultural lands, but to obtain for the benefit of the lumber companies and
the men employed by them the timber upon these lands, which is precisely what the
government wishes to prevent in setting them off as reserves." He pointed out that, in
the case of the requests for reduction of the southern portion of the reserve, "lumber
companies are now cutting at Matlock and at other points just south of the present south
line of the reserve, and shipping their lumber into Shelton by rail. It is not improbable

that these companies have originated this movement.

n8

The department accepted the Geological Survey position in the spring and summer of
1899, despite the repeated requests of local officials and settlers to reduce the reserve.
On May 2, the secretary instructed Commissioner Hermann "to defer making

" Gannctt to Walcott. 11 March 1899, RG 49, Division R, National Forcsts - Olympic, pt. 1, File 1154, 1-2,

NA,

8 Walcott to Hermann. 31 March 1899. RG 49, Division R, National Forests - Olympic, pt. 1, File 49312, 1-2,

NA.
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. recommendations for changes of boundaries of existing forest reserves” until the
Geological Survey could complete on-the-ground investigations.” Hermann accepted the
departmental position. However, on September 16, he asked the Geological Survey to
assign special priority status to its investigation of the Olympic Forest Reserve and
ordered Forest Superintendent D. B. Sheller, Cloes’s successor in office, to "make a
careful, personal examination of the territory included in this reserve, and to submit a
report showing what lands, if any, should, in his opinion, be eliminated from or added to
the reserve."!”

D.B. Sheller, U.S. Forest Service

Sheller completed his report on November 23, 1899. He stated that he had examined all
major river valleys along the western slope of the Olympics as well as the settlements
around Lake Crescent and Lake Quinault. He found that the largest numbers of settlers
were in the Queets and Quinault river valleys--twenty-three in the Quinault and ten in
the Queets - and that both valleys contained good agricultural land. He found four
settlers in the Hoh Valley and eleven in the Bogachiel, and concluded that those valleys
contained good agricultural land, "if cleared."™

Sheller’s evaluation of the quality of the timber in the areas he investigated differed from
that of most other observers. He concluded that little of the timber had commercial
‘ value and for that reason should be excluded from the forest reserve. His view was that:

The average of the whole of the Western part of the Olympic reserve which I
examined can be termed comparatively level and in my opinion better adapted to
farming and grazing than for the timber. The timber is principally hemlock and
spruce, but of a knotty and unmerchantable nature, and at present of no
commercial value, and when this land is taken up and farmed, the timber removed
there from, the future benefits derived, will be of a greater value than the timber
value at the present time. Of the spruce there is very little that can be considered
first class. In certain spots it is good, but not of sufficient quantity to be of especial
value.'?

In formulating his evaluation of the potential for the land he was examining, Sheller was
guided by the slope of the land. If the land was level or relatively level, he assumed that

® Hermann to the secretary of the Interior. 27 September 1899. RG 48, Lands and Railroads Division, File
1415-97, 4, NA,

1 Ibid., 3.

1 Sheller to commissioner, General Land Office. 23 November 1899. RG 49, Division R, National Forests -
Olympic, pt. 1, 3, NA.

® ..
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the best use of the land would be agricultural. Theodore Rixon and Arthur Dodwell,
who had been ordered by Henry Gannett to investigate conditions within the Olympic
Forest Reserve for the Geological Survey, shared that assumption. Their final report,
which was completed one day earlier than Sheller’s, recommended that 773 square miles
consisting of 455 square miles in Clallam County and 318 in Jefferson County, be
eliminated from the reserve and that the eastern boundary of the forest reserve be
moved two miles eastward. Such an action would not increase the number of settlers
within the reserve and would still include "a well timbered and mountainous district"
which had not yet been surveyed.”

Summary

In his letter of transmittal to Hermann, Gannett pointed out that the 773 square miles
that Dodwell and Rixon suggested be removed from the reserve contained more than 7.2
billion feet, B.M., of timber. Gannett objected to the assumption that all level land
should be considered agricultural land. He pointed out that the Dodwell-Rixon report
showed the cost of clearing much of the land in question was three times what the
cleared land would be worth, and that at present there was no way to get agricultural
products to market. In response to Gannett’s protest, Hermann asked for a second
opinion from Sheller, who reaffirmed his earlier conclusions.™

The U.S. Geological Survey and the General Land Office had now agreed that a
reduction in the size of the forest reserve was needed. State officials and the
congressional delegation also expressed their growing support for a reduction in the size
of the reserve. On January 31, 1900, Commissioner Hermann reported to the secretary,
"The requests and petitions for a modification of the boundaries of this reserve have
been most urgent and insistent from, not only individuals, but such bodies as the
Commissioners of Clallam and Jefferson counties...and the Chamber of Commerce of
Seattle; and the same are urgently endorsed by Honorable A.G. Foster (U.S. Senate),
Honorable W.L. Jones, (M.C.), and Honorable F.W. Cushman (M.C.)." For these
reasons, Hermann endorsed Sheller’s recommendation that the reserve be reduced by
715,000 acres.®

On April 7, 1900, the president issued a proclamation restoring land included within the
Olympic Forest Reserve to the public domain. However, because of Gannett’s

1 Rixon & Dodwell to Gannett. 22 November 1899. RG 49, Division R, National Forests - Olympic, pt. 1,
8, NA. »

' Hermann to Sheller. 13 February 1900. RG 48, Lands and Railroad Division, File 1415-97, 1, 5, NA.

' Hermann to the Secretary of the Interior. 31 January 1900. RG 48, Land and Railroads Division, File 1415-
97, 2, NA.

' Ibid., 7.
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objections, the proclamation did not remove the land in Jefferson County from the
reserve. The proclamation, in effect, accepted the original Cloes recommendation that
land south of the Bogachiel should not be excluded from the reserve."”

Because of the limited area restored to the public domain by the April 7 proclamation,
pressure for the removal of more land continued. On June 29, 1901, Commissioner
Hermann again reported to the secretary of the Interior that further reductions in the
size of the reserve were required. He pointed out that since the April 7 proclamation,
"petitions and requests have been received from the Washington Delegation in Congress
and the county officers of Clallam and Jefferson Counties and from others for yet further
eliminations" from the reserve. He enclosed a new report from the Geological Survey
which supported the recommended removals in Clallam, Jefferson, and Chehalis
counties.’® President William McKinley signed a proclamation embodying Hermann’s
recommendations on July 15, 1901.”

The combined effect of the proclamations was to reduce the Olympic Forest Reserve by
approximately a third, from 2.18 million acres to 1.46 million. The fact that these lands
are not used for large-scale farming today is one indication that the plight of the settlers
was not the major motive behind efforts to reduce the reserve. Another indication was
the refusal of the General Land Office to remove the lands of settlers already within the
reserve. In 1902, the application of John Ewell and forty-one other settlers in the
Quinault Valley for removal of their lands from the Olympic Forest Reserve was denied
because, under the terms of the reservation, "all legal rights acquired by settlers will be
fully protected and title to claims may be perfected."?

The land in question was level, but it was not arable. It was also heavily timbered.
Pinchot said the assertion that the land was being removed from the reserve because it
was more suited to agriculture than timber was "utterly imaginary.” He said, "Nearly
every acre of it passed promptly and fraudulently into the hands of lumbermen."?!

The creation and reduction of the Olympic Forest Reserve displays a pattern of
interaction between local economic interests, national conservation interests, and federal

* agencies with varying missions that has been repeated throughout the 20th century. The

17 Notice of Restoration of Lands in The Olympic Forest Reserve to Entry, 22 May 1900, RG 49, Division
R, National Forests - Olympic, pt. 1, NA.

'8 Hermann to the Secretary of the Interior. 29 June 1901. RG 48, Land and Railroads Division, File 1415-97,
NA. '

¥ Annual Report of the Commissioner of the General Land Office: 1901. Washington, D.C.: GPO, 1901. 452.
2 Annual Report of the Commissioner of the General Land Office: 1902. Washington, D.C.: GPO, 1902. 179.

% Carsten Lien. "The Olympic Boundary Struggle,” The Mountaineer, Vol. 52, March 1, 1959, 21.
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balance of power would change, but the four players--a federal agency, local and national
conservationists, timber companies, and other local commercial interests--would remain.

. EARLY FOREST SERVICE MANAGEMENT PRACTICES: 1898-1912

The National Forestry Committee, whose recommendation to establish the Olympic
Forest Reserve set off the chain of events described in the previous section, filed a
formal report on the state of timber management in the public domain on May 5, 1897.
The committee recommended that a permanent forestry management organization be
formed within the Department of the Interior. The organization’s central office would
have a director, an assistant director, a legal adviser, and four forest inspectors. Four
regional offices would be established to manage the forest reserves created by President
Cleveland’s proclamation. They would be staffed by 26 head foresters and a force of two
hundred rangers.”? The report also recommended that two more national parks be
established to protect the natural beauty and resources of Mount Rainier and the Grand
Canyon.?

The forestry management recommendations were accepted by Congress. As a result, the
initial responsibility for managing all national forest reserves, including the Olympic
reserve, was assigned to the Forestry Division of the General Land Office, the
predecessor to the Bureau of Land Management, by the Interior Department
Appropriation Bill of 1897. The General Land Office published a circular on June 30,
1897 "prescribing rules and regulations governing forest reserves." This circular was
widely distributed by local land offices.”

Fred Hanson, Superintendent, 1903-1909

The history of administrative practices during the early years of the forest reserve
indicates that management activity began at a very low level and grew gradually after
1905, when jurisdiction over the reserve was transferred to the U.S. Forest Service.
During the years 1898 to 1905, the main effort focused on protecting the reserved timber

from trespass and fire. Fred Hanson, whose office was located at Hoodsport, succeeded -

Cloes and Sheller as forest supervisor. By 1905, the reserve was divided into two ranger

2 Report of the Committee Appointed by the National Academy of Sciences upon the Inauguration of a Forest
Policy for the Forested Lands of the United States to the Secretary of the Interior: May 1, 1897 (Washington, D.C.:
GPO, 1897), 23-24.

3 Ibid., 33.

% Annual Report of the Commissioner of the General Land Office: 1987 (Washington, D.C..GPO), 81.
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districts, one headed by Paul Laufield, the other by Chris Morgenrbth, who had been
hired initially as ranger-at-large.”

Supervisor Hanson, who held that position from 1903 to 1909, was required to file
monthly fire reports. Most of his work involved handling disputes, such as timber-cutting
trespass or when an individual attempted to settle on timber land by claiming that it
should be classified as agricultural land. The latter type of claim arose as the result of
an act passed on June 11, 1906, which authorized the secretary of Agriculture "to
recommend for listing under the homestead laws such lands within the Forest boundary
as are in his opinion more valuable for agriculture than for the production of timber." In
the Olympic Forest Reserve, sixty-three claims totalling 5,983 acres had been made by
1911.% Theodore Rixon, who with Arthur Dodwell had surveyed the reserve, noted
many years later, "These proposed ranches did not prove a success."”’ Parish S.

Lovejoy, who served as supervisor for 1911-12, reported to his successor, Rudolph
Fromme, that Hanson alleged to have saved 500 million feet of timber as a result of the
claims contests.®

The major administrative event during the early years occurred at the national level. On
February 1, 1905, Congress transferred responsibility for managing the forest reserves
from the General Land Office, Department of the Interior, to the U.S. Forest Service,
Department of Agriculture. The commissioner of the General Land Office endorsed the
legislation, which assigned to the Forest Service responsibility for "the execution of all
laws affecting public lands in forest reserves, excepting such laws as affect the surveying,
prospecting, locating, appropriating, entering, relinquishing, reconveying, certifying, or
patenting of any such lands."® In short, all title decisions were to be made by the
General Land Office, but responsibility for the management of the resource was now
with the Forest Service.

® Historical Data As Seen From The Pen Of Clarence Adams, Administrative Assistant (Olympic National Park
Library), 1, 11.

% Findley Burns. "The Olympic National Forest: Its Resources and Their Management," Forest Service
Bulietin 89 (Washington, D.C.: GPO), 18.

¥ Historical Data As Seen From the Pen of Clarence Adams, Administrative Assistant (Olympic National Park
Library), 13.

% p. 8. Lovejoy to Rudolph Fromme. Undated. Memo for Fromme, Supervisor’s Office, Olympic National
Forest, 1, Olympia.

® Annual Report of the Commissioner of the General Land Office: 1905 (Washington, D.C.: GPO), 38.
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R.E. Benedict, Superintendent, 1909-1912

This change did not have an immediate impact on the management of the Olympic
Forest Reserve, because Hanson remained supervisor until 1909, when he was demoted
to district ranger and replaced by R. E. Benedict. Benedict began building a staff by
appointing Clarence Adams as forest clerk in October of 1909 and by hiring another staff
person and an office clerk in 1910. With the larger staff, Benedict used Adams to draft
the first map of the reserve. Adams reported in 1946 that a copy was still in the files at
the Olympia office.®

Some trail building had begun as early as 1903, when five miles of trail along the south
shore of Lake Crescent was built. Chris Morgenroth built the connection between that
trail and the Soleduck trail in 1905, creating a thirteen-mile system connecting Lake
Crescent with Sappho and with the road that runs from Clallam Bay to Forks.>!
Additional trail work was done in 1907, perhaps in response to the major fire that
occurred that year. The Quinault Road was cleared and the Soleduck-Beaver trail was
"bucked through" between 1907 and 1909.%

However, until Benedict arrived, the reserve did not have an overall design for locating
trails in a way that would enhance the capability of the Forest Service to manage the
resource for which it was responsible. Benedict attempted to create such a design, but
his successor, Parish Lovejoy, wrote, "Benedict seems never to have looked into the
country where the trails were to go and never to have gone near them in construction.”
As a result, trail construction was difficult and expensive work.™® Nevertheless, by the
middle of 1910 the reserve contained 73 miles of trail, 12 miles of road, 9 miles of
telephone line, 3 bridges, and 6 cabins.*

® Historical Data As Seen From the Pen of Clarence Adams, Administrative Assistant (Olympic National Park
Library), 2.

3 Ibid,, 1.

2 P, S. Lovejoy to Rudolph Fromme. Undated. Supervisor’s Office, Olympic National Forest, Memo to
Fromme, Olympia, 5.

® Ibid,, 7.

% Historical Data As Seen From the Pen of Clarence Adams, Administrative Assistant (Olympic National Park
Library), 3.
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Parish Lovejoy

Lovejoy’s 1912 memorandum of advice to his successor, Rudolph Fromme, contained
sections discussing the management areas that were significant to the forest supervisor,
and therefore illustrate the administrative tasks and perspective of the Forest Service at
that time. After discussing briefly the early history of the reserve, Lovejoy discussed land
claims, grazing, trail improvement, land status, trespass, special use permits,
reconnaissance, timber sales, and fire protection and prevention.®

The overall conclusion to be drawn from the Lovejoy memo is that the land and
resources within the forest reserve were only minimally used. It pointed out that, during
Hanson’s administration, year-long occupancy of ranger stations, "which was worked out
for the busier forests," was established at the reserve. However, although "the Storm
King, Interorrem, and other stations were built and occupied” as a result of this policy, it
"did not at all fit the local conditions."

Each topic was given only brief discussion because little was happening. The land claims
that had been made prior to 1912 were, except for those in the Quinault, for the most
part abandoned. Grazing was limited to nominal grazing at a few points near the roads
entering the national forest. Only three or four permits had been issued, with less than
ten head of stock per permit. Again, the exception was the Quinault, where the settlers’
insistence upon grazing without permit and violation of agency regulations constituted a
serious administrative problem.

Improvements to trails have been discussed above. Lovejoy was also responsible for a
major increase in the number of miles of phone lines within the reserve and he inherited
a good set of maps done by Adams and Rixon. Land status records for lands within and
surrounding the forest reserve had been updated in 1911, although the data on cut-over
areas outside the reserve still required further updating and mapping. Trespass was
minimal, other than the Quinault grazing trespass, and the only special use activity
involved resort lots along Lake Quinault and Lake Crescent.

Reconnaissance activities were minimal because "the chance for big sales is not very
good yet.” A few moderately-sized timber sales were made up to 1910 when the
market blew up. However, Lovejoy concluded, "These were not very carefully considered
and the less said about the way they were administered the better." Almost all had been

3 p. S. Lovejoy to Rudolph Fromme, Undated, Supervisor’s Office, Olympic National Forest, Olympia.
% Ibid., 2.
¥ Ibid.,, 12.
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"closed in disgrace" although a few lingered on. By 1912, timber was not being cut within
the boundaries of the reserve.®

Lovejoy noted that fire-prevention activities were far more successful than timber-sale
administration. He concluded that the proportion of the total acreage burnt over in
recent years was not great. However, the risk of fire was greater than his superiors were
willing to concede. He acknowledged that the wet climate made the high-risk period
shorter than in other forests, but he did not agree with the district forester that all risk
was eliminated. He warned Fromme that there was not a "40 acre tract on the whole of
the peninsula which will not show big-fire sign...When it comes it comes a terror. The
moss in the tops makes each tree a Roman candle."”

Lovejoy suggested a fire protection plan which included: "Trails and trails and trails all
looping into one another and into roads so as to allow cross cuts. All main trails and
roads, and bye and bye all trails and roads paralleled with phone lines. "

He called for patrol boxes located five miles apart or less and shelters to provide
protection for travellers, fire fighters, and fire-fighting tools. He also suggested that
Fromme heed the advice of Chris Morgenroth, "who is the best fire fighter in the country
if not the world."

Lovejoy’s memorandum indicates the state of the administrative mind of the institution
managing the Olympic Forest Reserve in 1912. Fromme seems to have deviated little
from its perspective during most of his fourteen-year tenure as forest supervisor.
However, the memo did not address the major event that had occurred two years earlier
and which began the change in the manner in which the federal government would
manage the peninsula resources it controlled--the creation of Mount Olympus National
Monument.

THE CREATION AND REDUCTION OF MOUNT OLYMPUS NATIONAL
MONUMENT

On March 2, 1909, President Theodore Roosevelt signed a proclamation establishing
Mount Olympus National Monument. This action was the result of years of concern for
the health of the peninsula’s Roosevelt elk herds--a concern which many of the local
residents shared with emerging national conservation organizations. In many ways, the
establishment of the monument paralletled the creation of the Olympic Forest Reserve:
the action was taken by a lame-duck president with very little time left in office; it was

* Ibid.
» Ibid., 13-14,
“ Ibid.
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taken to protect a significant peninsula resource from chaotic exploitation; its
implications were not fully understood at the time; and, when those implications became
plain, local interests pressed strongly for the elimination of the monument, or a
reduction in its size.

Protection of Elk

Expressions of concern for the peninsula’s elk appeared as early as 1890, when Lt.
Joseph O’Neil urged that a national park be created on the peninsula to protect them.
(See chapter 2.) O’Neil may have been influenced by the example of Yellowstone, a
national park where elk and other game animals were protected. Appreciation of the
elk was heightened in 1897, when Clinton Hart Merriam determined that the elk on the
Olympic Peninsula were a separate and distinct species, and named the species after
Theodore Roosevelt. Merriam was a noted naturalist and had been chief of the
Biological Survey since 1885. Prior to that appointment, he had served as the naturalist
on the Hayden Survey of 1872 and worked for the U.S. Fish Commission.*!

At the turn of the century, it was fashionable for men to wear elk teeth on their watch
chains. The demand for elk teeth led to a sharp increase in the killing of elk on the
peninsula, which brought an outcry against the slaughter from state officials and local
social organizations, especially the Benevolent and Protective Order of Elk. In 1904,
Congressman Francis W. Cushman of Tacoma introduced a bill "to set apart certain
lands in the State of Washington as a public park, to be known as "The Elk National
Park’ for the purpose of preserving the elk, game, fish, birds, animals, timber, and
curiosities therein."* '

Cushman’s bill proposed to establish a national park of 615 square miles (393,600 acres)
in the center of Olympic National Forest. The bill was supported by the state’s deputy
game warden, the Seattle Post-Intelligencer, and the Tacoma and Port Angeles Orders of
Elk, The commissioner of the General Land Office and the secretary of the Interior
reported favorably on the bill with minor technical changes and the Committee on Public
Lands recommended enactment to the House of Representatives. However, it failed to
be enacted. One reason could have been that the secretary of Agriculture and the Chief
Forester did not report on the bill.*® Another reason might be that in 1905 the

4 American Biographical Directory: 1908-09 (Washington, D.C.: Potomac Press, 1908), 320.

2 House Committee on Public Lands. "Elk National Park" Washington, 58th Cong., 2d Sess., H. Rept. 1874,
2.

4 Ibid.
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Washington state legislature enacted laws which prohibited elk hunting by anyone but
miners for 10 years.*

The state action, however, does not seem to have lessened the concern on the peninsula
for the safety of the elk. Congressman W. E. Humphrey, whose district included the
peninsula, tried a different approach in the next session of Congress. President
Roosevelt had requested that Congress give him authority to create game preserves in all
the national forests. Early in 1906, Humphrey introduced legislation to authorize the
president to establish the Olympic Game Preserve, not to exceed 750,000 acres, "for the
protection of game animals, birds, and fishes in the Olympic Forest Reserve.”® The
House Committee on Public Lands again reported favorably on it to the floor, but no
action was taken.

Congressman Humphrey persisted in his efforts to protect the elk. He succeeded in
persuading the House to pass his game preserve bill in 1908. However, the Seattle
Chamber of Commerce "..wired Senator [Samuel H.] Piles to kill it in the Senate, which
he did.™¢ On March 2, 1909, Representative Humphrey persuaded Roosevelt, two days
before the end of the president’s term, to proclaim a national monument under the
authority vested in him by the Antiquities Act of 1906. Roosevelt thus created Mount
Olympus National Monument, consisting of 610,560 acres, to protect the elk. The Forest

Service retained administrative respensibility for the area.’’
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Opposition to the Monument

Although local opposition to the creation of the monument did not become intense for
over a year, within two months of the proclamation at least one Seattle businessman, F.
H. Stanard, raised questions. On April 30, 1909, he wrote to Secretary of the Interior R.
A. Ballenger, who had been both an attorney and a judge in Seattle, inquiring about the
extent of his rights to prospect for and extract minerals within the boundaries of the
monument. Secretary Ballenger replied that the terms of the proclamation and the
authority of the Antiquities Act barred all mineral exploration and extraction activities
within the boundaries of the monument.®

“ Robert W. Kaune, Jr., "The Olympic Controversy: Part 1," Port Angeles Evening News, 9 February 1966
(Manuscript in ONP Library).

% U.S. Congress. House. Committee on the Public Lands, Qlympic Forest Game Reserve, 59th Cong., 1st
Sess., 1906, H. Rept. 2744, 1.

“ "Opening the Olympics,” Aberdeen Herald, 23 January 1912,
7 Kaune, "The Olympic Controversy," Port Angeles Evening News, 3 (See: Note 44).
“ R.A. Ballenger to F.H. Stanard, 14 May 1909, RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 1, NA.
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Stanard began a campaign to abolish the monument, and by the summer of 1910, he was
having some effect. On August 16, 1910, Forest Supervisor Benedict reported to his
immediate superior, District Forester George Cecil, "There has been sort of [a] boom in
mining and a number of promising prospects have been found." As a result, the Seattle
papers were publishing articles criticizing the government for not allowing prospecting
within the monument boundaries. Benedict pointed out that “"the conditions are
propitious to take up the question of its abolishment, which I strongly favor."*

Benedict also offered his opinion that the monument could be abolished because it was
ineffective in protecting the elk. He noted that the monument contained no winter
range, much of which was also outside the national forest boundaries. "Practically all of
the danger of illegal killing of elk occurs durmg the winter time and since the elk range
is outside the monument, little protection is given.""

Benedict also argued that the game commission recently appointed by the governor
would consider the question of protecting the elk and would assuredly arrive at a better
method for doing so. He informed Cecil that "if Governor Hay was informed this
monument would be abolished if the State passed legislation which would afford .
complete protection to the elk and received assurance that the monument would be
abolished as soon as such legislation was passed, he would have little difficulty in
securing such legislation" and requested that the department take a formal position on

this question.

Benedict’s report was circulated through the Forest Service and forwarded by the chief
forester to T. S. Palmer, acting director of the Biological Survey. Palmer took issue with
Benedict’s contention that the monument was not effective in protecting the elk herd.

He pointed out that while the monument did not contain a winter range, it contained
virtually all of the herd’s summer range, which also served as the herd’s breeding ground.
He concluded that "under no circumstances should anything be done to interfere with the
protection now accorded on the breeding grounds.”? Chief Forester Graves gulckly
assured Palmer that nothing would be done without his agency’s involvement.”

4 R.E. Benedict to District Forester. 16 August 1910. RG 22, Wildlife Refuges, Olympic National Forest,
NA.

* Tbid.
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52 T, S. Palmer to A. F. Potter. 15 September 1910. RG 22, Wildlife Refuges, Olympic National Forest, 2,
NA. ’

5 H. S. Graves to T. S. Palmer. 6 October 1910. Wildlife Refuges, Olympic National Forest, NA.
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Timber and Mineral Industry Opposition

The reasons for the mineral "boom" in 1910 and Benedict’s opposition to the existence of
the monument can be identified. As Benedict’s successor noted, the bottom fell out of
the timber market in 1910. Local businessmen would increasingly seek alternative
resources to exploit to free themselves from the boom-and-bust cycle of the timber
market. Although the mineralogist on the O’Neil expedition had determined that the
Olympics had little if any mineral wealth, this report was either unknown or ignored.
Stanard and others alleged that the potential for mineral wealth existed and that federal
government prohibition of exploitation of that wealth was unfair.

Benedict’s opposition to the monument was in sympathy with local sentiment. While the
local business community was united in the conclusion that the monument prevented the
development of mineral wealth on the peninsula, the business community was divided on
the method to be used to correct this situation. Some, like Benedict, favored outright
abolition of the monument. Others, including Congressman Humphrey, were more
concerned about preserving the elk. They favored making the entire national forest a
nationa! park, which would prevent hunting, but allow mineral exploitation. To the
extent that national park status might place more stringent restrictions on the use of
peninsula resources, it would diminish the control and influence of the Forest Service
aver those same resources. Benedict had concluded that elimination of the monument
would lessen the threat of a national park and offered the best method for preserving
Forest Service hegemony on the peninsula.

By the fall of 1911, the issue had become a major topic of debate. On October 6, 1911,
the Bremerton Searchlight reported on the third quarterly meeting of the Olympic
Peninsula Development League. All of the members, including Stanard, attacked the
present monument sitvation. Stanard argued that some type of compromise could be
worked out with proponents of a national park, but others shared the sentiments of M. J.
Carrigan, a Seattle tax commissioner, who argued that the national monument and the
national park idea should both be abolished. He observed, "We who have given years to
pioneering in the work of developing the resources of the Olympic peninsula would be
fools to let a lot of foolish sentimentalists tie up the resources of the Olympic peninsula
in order to preserve its scenery." He assured the meeting that he had travelled through
the monument and knew "that it contains mineral wealth that will startle the world."

A compromise of sorts was developed by a three-person committee appointed by the
Seattle Chamber of Commerce to analyze the issues and present a report. The
committee consisted of Stanard, representing the mineral interests; D. J. Kelley,
representing the Seattle Commercial Club; and Asahel Curtis, of the chamber. Their
report, which was endorsed by both the chamber and the Commercial Club, called for

* "Leaguers Make Assault on Monument," Bremerton Searchlight, 6 October 1911.
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changes in a bill authorizing the creation of "Olympus national park" that would remove
all the land containing valuable timber from the southern portion of the monument. It

- would also add language authorizing the extraction and transport of minerals within the
reduced boundaries of the proposed park. The report and the endorsements were
forwarded to Congressman Humphrey, who sponsored the bill.

The efforts of the Seattle Chamber of Commerce to forge a compromise among
members of the busiriess community on the mining ban in Mount Olympus National
Monument met with limited success. There were still divisions between those who
wished to create a national park to protect the elk and those who wanted to remove all
restrictions on the exploitation of resources within the national forest by abolishing the
monument. In 1914, Governor Earnest Lister sided with those who wanted to do away
with the monument. He wrote to President Woodrow Wilson sndorsing a proposal from
the Southwest Washington Development Association requesting that the monument be
abolished by executive order.%

The Forester S. Graves Report

Lister’s letter was sent by the White House to the secretary of the Interior who, in turn,
forwarded it to the secretary of Agriculture, who refused to take a position on the issue
"until a careful study of the problem has been made on the ground.”® The
responsibility for conducting that study was assigned to the head of the U.S. Forest
Service, Chief Forester H. S. Graves. '

Graves made an investigative trip to the peninsula in late September 1914, He discussed
the situation with all interested parties, including the local business interests opposed to
the monument and the creation of a national park, and members of the Mountaineers,
who favored the park. He made two field trips, one over the southern area of the
monument and another to the more rugged northern portion. He held public meetings
at Hoquiam, Port Angeles, and Seattle, listening carefully to all who chose to meet with
him. On his return to Washington, D.C., he had further discussions with central office
personnel of the Department of Agriculture and Department of the Interior.’

Graves completed his report to the secretary of Agriculture on January 20, 1915, Tt was
a comprehensive and sound report which addressed each interest he had heard on the
peninsula. In general, he concluded that the designation of any national monument was

% Governor Lester to President Wilson. 26 February 1914, RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 2, NA.

% Secretary of Agriculture (o Secretary of the Interior. 1 April, 1914. RG 79, Olympic, File 000, General, pt.
2, NA.

% Henry S. Graves. Memorandum on the Mount Olympus National Monument, 20 January 1915, RG 79,
Olympic, File 000, General, pt. 2, 1, NA.
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inherently a temporary measure until the government could determine, based on best .
use, what the permanent status of the area would be and he argued that the time had

come for the Mount Olympus National Monument. He also asserted that the

multiple-use resource management practices of the Forest Service, which developed "the

various resources side by side," justified the abolition of the monument and the return of

the land to the national forest. However, he agreed that there was a need for

recreational areas on the peninsula and that the monument’s more rugged areas might

best serve that need by being made a national park.*®

With regard to the resources of the monument, he developed specific recommendations
for the permanent status of timber, mining, agriculture, elk protection, and recreation.
He concluded that the southern half of the monument, which was heavily timbered,
should be returned to the Olympic National Forest. He conceded that there was no
market for the timber at that time, but he asserted that demand would develop in the
future and therefore the timber should not remain in the monument where it was "locked
up from use." He also concluded that the Forest Service’s multiple-use management
approach would protect the elk and pointed out that virtually all the mining claims
within the monument were in the heavily timbered area. Therefore, removal of that
area from the monument would resolve the timber and mining problems while not
weakening the protection of the elk.>

He pointed out, "Some attempts were made in the hearings to show that the Monument
is interfering with agricultural development." However, he found that proponents of this
argument could not sustain it: "This argument was, however, soon admitted to be
without ground. Such land in the Monument as has soil capable of raising crops is very
limited and nearly all of it under very heavy timber. There is no demand for it, except
as a part of the demand that exists among some to secure a timber stake from the
Government."®

Graves also addressed the question of the monument’s negative impact on agriculture. ‘

Graves agreed with former Forest Supervisor Benedict’s position on the role of the
monument in protecting the elk herd. He pointed out that the state had extended its law
banning elk hunting for another ten years, to 1925. He also concluded that the summer
breeding grounds were sufficiently high in the monument to limit or eliminate access to
the herd during the breeding season. He concluded that the Forest Service could protect
the summer range equally well without the existence of a national monument. He said,
"So far as the question of the calving grounds is concerned, the secretary of Agriculture
has authority to afford the necessary protection under the National Forest laws." The .

% Ibid., 2-3.
* Ibid., 4-7.

9 Ibid., 7.
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secretary could protect the herd simply by not "listing any lands for agriculture at the
upper reaches of the rivers where such action is necessary to protect the Olympic elk."!

. Graves acknowledged that the upper reaches of the monument had "distinctive and
unique" scenic features and that its recreational resources were one of the greatest assets
of the region. He concluded that this resource should be developed, just as all the other
resources he had discussed, by the Forest Service in accordance with its multiple-use
phllosophy However, he said he was open to discussing the creation of a national park
"to comprise the main mass of more rugged peaks centering about Mount Olympus...In
any case a full opportunity should be afforded the Park authorities to make a
recommendation on this point."s?

Graves presented three recommendations to the secretary of Agriculture. First, the
southern half of the monument, which was heavily timbered, should be returned to the
Olympic National Forest. Second, the northern half should retain monument status until
"National Park authorities of the Interior Department" reported on the desirability of
making the area a national park. Third, that the Forest Service, with the cooperation of
the Biological Survey, develop a complete working plan for the protection of the elk,
which would specify "the procedure necessary to safeguard the breeding grounds."®

Graves had discussed his findings both before and after the completion of his report with
Mark Daniels, who was the general superintendent and landscape engineer of national
parks, based in San Francisco. As a result, Daniels’s views were included in the report.
He recommended that the secretary of the Interior accept the report’s recommendations.
However, perhaps during the process of developing an executive order to reduce the size
of the monument in accordance with Graves’s first recommendation, two legal questions
arose: "(1) Has the President the power without specific legislation from Congress to
reduce the area of a national monument; (2), should the eliminations be made, will the
lands so excluded from the national monument be part of the public domain or remain
within the Olympic National Forest."®

Secretary of the Interior Franklin K. Lane forwarded these questions to Preston C. West,
the department’s solicitor, on April 8, 1915, noting that he would agree to the

modification of the monument’s boundaries proposed by the secretary of Agriculture only
if the land were to revert to the National Forest Service. West responded by finding that
the president did have the authority to restore land to the public domain without express

* Ibid., 8-9.

% Ibid., 10.

® Ibid., 12-13.

* Preston West to secretary of the Interior. 20 April, 1915. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 2, 1, NA.
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Congressional consent. He also said that, because the lands within the monument had
been previously included in the Olympic National Forest, "the revocation of their
reservation as a national monument does not affect their status as national forest lands,
and such revocation does not restore them to the public domain,"® When all policy

and legal problems had been considered and resolved, President Woodrow Wilson signed
an executive order on May 11, 1915 encompassing the boundary changes recommended
in Graves’s report and thereby reducing the size of the Mount Olympus National
Monument from 610,000 acres to approximately 300,000 acres.

The first and third recommendations in Graves’s report were accepted because Graves
managed to meld the conflicting and competing interests in a way that partially satisfied
them all. His primary accomplishment was to obtain Interior Department consent to his
boundary changes and to future Forest Service management practices by assuring the
Biological Survey, the Department of the Interior agency responsible for the health and
safety of the elk herd, that it would be allowed to define, or at least review and evaluate,
the Forest Service’s elk management plan. This fact also reassured the local interests
who were concerned about the elk herd’s condition. To a considerable degree, Forest
Service management practices on the peninsula would be judged by the extent to which
the service demonstrated to the Department of the Interior and the local conservation
interests that it intended to keep the elk herd safe and healthy, and that it had the

administrative capability iv do so.

The second recommendation, that Department of the Interior park authorities evaluate
the area to determine whether it could be accepted as a national park, resulted from the
correspondence and meetings between Graves and Mark Daniels. The Department of
Agriculture seemed willing to favor legislation creating a park which contained little or
no timber. During the weeks between December 10, 1914, and January 23, 1915, the
period during which Graves was preparing and formally presenting his report,
negotiations were underway between the two departments to define acceptable
boundaries for the proposed park. Secretary of Agriculture D. F. Houston outlined his
position in a letter to Secretary of the Interior Lane on December 10. He proposed that
the monument be reduced by 298,760 acres, that the remaining lands retain the
designation of national monument until Lane could make recommendations to Congress
"relative to the establishment of a National Park," and that, if Lane found that the
remaining lands were not of park caliber, then they should revert to the Olympic
National Forest.%

Lane informed his personal secretary that he was going to take the matter up with
Daniels and that he and Secretary Houston would undoubtedly make a joint

“ Ibid., 2-3.

% Secretary of Agriculture to Secretary of the Interior. 10 December 1914. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General,
pt. 2, NA.
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recommendation on the future of the remaining monument lands. On December 26,
Lane, relying on Daniels, replied to Houston. He agreed to the size of the monument
proposed by the Department of Agriculture, but expressed concern that it would lack
“control of strategical points for entry and exit to and from the park." He requested a
topographical map displaying the proposed boundary changes so that a determination of
the location of strategic access points could be made. Daniels’s primary concern was
that no monopoly be created which would control all land available for hotel sites and
possible villages.®’

On January 23, 1915, Secretary Houston reported to Lane that Daniels and Graves had
met again to discuss these concerns. Graves evidently satisfied Daniels by assuring him
that, in making any small adjustments in the monument boundaries to include strategic
access points, the Forest Service would not oppose including small amounts of its land in
the final area of the national park or, at least, that the Forest Service controlled all the
land surrounding the proposed park and would not permit such development.®

Agreement and Resolution 1916

An interdepartmental agreement was reached on the creation of a national park
including the upper reaches of Mount Olympus National Monument. The agreement
was significant because, during this period, agreement between the Department of
Agriculture and the Department of the Interior was a prerequisite to congressional
action on any issue affecting the interests of both departments. Each department could
veto the other’s requests to Congress.

On January 4, 1916, Congressman Albert Johnson introduced a bill to convert Mount
Olympus National Monument to "a public park or pleasure ground for the benefit and
enjoyment of the people of the United States” and to change its name to Olympic
National Park. Senator A. A. Jones introduced a bill with identical language to the
Senate on January 13. No evidence has been found to show that the introduction of this
legislation resulted from informal discussions with the executive branch. Because the
purpose of the park was recreational and the lands included were those described in
President Wilson’s May 11, 1915 proclamation, it seems likely that this legislation was
introduced to fulfill an agreement reached between Lane and Houston. However, both
bills were referred to the appropriate committee and no further action was taken. At
the last minute, Secretary Houston eliminated any chance of the bill passing by informing
Congressman A. F. Lever, the chairman of the House Committee on Agriculture, that he

¢ Secretary of the Interior to secretary of Agriculture. 26 December 1914. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General,
pt. 2, NA.

% Secretary of Agriculture to Secretary of the Interior. 23 January 1915. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General,
pt. 2, N.
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now opposed enactment because certain questions concerning the relationship between .
the Forest Service and the newly-created National Park Service had not yet been
resolved.”’

FOREST SERVICE MANAGEMENT PRACTICES: 1915-1933

Chief Forester Graves pointed to the Forest Service’s multiple-use management
approach as the best method to manage the entire area within Olympic National Forest.
That approach consisted of defining the principal value of the land resource and
managing it primarily to exploit its highest use. If land were heavily timbered, then
timber harvesting would be the primary management goal. However, if timber
harvesting interfered with some other resource’s primary use, then the extent of the
cutting operation would have to be evaluated and weighed against other uses. For
instance, harvesting timber might take place in most of the river valleys on the western
slopes of the Olympics, but it was possible that a strip of timber might be left along the
river for recreational use.

Forest personnel developed a management plan for Olympic National Forest. Despite
Graves’s advocacy of a multiple-use management approach, this plan, which was
completed on March 18, 1916, asserted that "the chief function of the National Forests is
the furmsmng of a continuous supply of timber." It called for a sustained yield
management approach based on the assurnptlon that all the forest’s timber would

eventually be cut.”

Forest Supervisor Rudolph Fromme completed his own timber management plan in
1923, His plan did not recogmze the existence of Mount Olympus National Monument
and called for timber harvest in every river valley. His plan was revised in 1924 to take
into account the existence of the monument, but the timber harvest provisions were not
changed.™

Graves had foreseen the dangers of the Forest Service being seen as too narrowly
interested in cutting timber on the Olympic Peninsula. Local conservationists were upset
by the management plans discussed above and, in response to their complaints, a
management plan which applied the multiple-use philosophy to the resources of Olympic
National Forest was developed by F. W. Cleator, a Forest Service recreation examiner
and engineer in the Portland district office. This management plan, completed by 1927,

® Twight, Ben W. Organizational Values and Political Power: The Forest Service Versus the Olympic National
Park (University Park and London: Pennsylvania State University Press, 1983), 40
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assigned higher priorities than timber harvest to certain areas of the forest. The priority
of use was determined by the service’s evaluation of the best use of that area.”

Cleator divided the forest into resource units which included the Snow Peaks Recreation
Area, which contained 316,960 acres including Mount Olympus, the other snow peaks,
and the subalpine meadows and watersheds above the timber line; several other
recreational areas, including the shores of Lake Crescent and Lake Quinault; and timber
strips in the western slope river valleys "containing [the] finest big tree specimens."
These strips were to be preserved for future generations. Except for these riverside
strips, all heavily timbered areas were to be sold and cut.” The Olympic Primitive
Area, Y,Zhi‘:h contained 134,240 acres, was created in 1930 to the south and east of Snow
Peaks.

The Cleator Plan was adopted in 1927 as National Forest Service policy in administering
both the monument and the forest. The various resource units that Cleator had
designated were dedicated to particular uses. The Snow Peaks Recreation Area was to
be managed to maximize its recreational potential; "Summer homes, hotels, and resorts
will be permitted under a carefully worked out recreation plan." The other areas
designated as recreational areas were to be managed the same way. The Olympic
Primitive Area was to be managed to preserve "as far as possible, the original natural
conditions of this rugged wilderness" by limiting access to foot and horse trails.”

However, despite the Forest Service’s espousal of multi-resource management
techniques, the Cleator Plan could not fully mask the fact that the Forest Service viewed
its primary mission to be providing timber for cutting on a sustained yield basis. Every
action the service took on the peninsula, from Graves’s success at removing the heavily-
timbered areas from Mount Olympus National Monument to the Cleator Plan, did
nothing to revise or even camouflage this perspective.

The contradictions between the multi-resource management philosophy and the service’s
view of its primary mission were pointed out by Willard Van Name in his 1928 book,
Vanishing Forest Reserves.”® Van Name, who was director of the American Museum of

2 Ibid., 46.
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Natural History in New York City, raised the question of the role of conservation of
virgin timber stands in the Forest Service’s management of the national forest. Van
Name said that the service had cut every tree it owned for which there was a demand,
and had given no indication that it would change this practice.

Van Name’s book had a larger impact on national conservation groups than on local
ones. The local groups were interested in preserving some of the forests for recreational
purposes, but they seem to have accepted that fairly extensive cutting would occur at
some point. The economy of the peninsula depended on it. However, the fact that the
Forest Service seemed intent on leaving only a few small areas for recreation did not

~ enhance its hegemony on the peninsula. In its rather high-handed attitude toward local
groups interested in recreation, such as the Mountaineers, the Forest Service generated
local support for a national park on the peninsula.”

EROSION OF FOREST SERVICE CONTROL: 1915-1933

During the negotiations to reduce Mount Olympus National Monument, it is clear that
the Forest Service accepted the proposition that the land remaining in the monument
might be of park caliber. However, that position soon changed.

During the negotiations that followed the Graves report, park personnel did not actuaily
visit the area to determine whether it merited park status. However, on April 22, 1918,
Robert S. Yard, a high-ranking Park Service official, addressed a letter to the forester of
the United States, inquiring in part about the special features of Mount Olympus
National Monument.

Acting Forester A. F. Potter replied on May 1. He informed Yard that the only unique
feature of the monument was that it was created to protect elk. He described the land
within the monument as "one of the wildest and most inaccessible portions of the United
States." Potter also told Yard that no roads or trails had been built within the present
boundaries of the monument because of the high construction costs and "because of the
need of opening up National Forest regions of greater beauty and utility." He concluded
by advising Yard that "the Monument possesses no outstanding features, and there is
little or nothing in our files here that would be of use to you."™

The Park Service seemed to have accepted this evaluation throughout the 1920s and
early 1930s. No evidence has been found to show that the Park Service favored the
creation of a national park on the peninsula in the 1920s. Further, the 1923 Annual
Report of National Park Service Director Stephen T. Mather contained a statement
opposing the creation of such a park. Mather argued against the establishment of parks

7 Twight. Organizational Values and Political Power, 56-57.
 A. F. Potter to Robert S. Yard. 1 May 1918. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 2, NA.
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in the Olympics or in the Cascades because of the popularity of Mount Rainier National
Park. He noted that the "creation of other areas in the State containing mountains of
less impressiveness have been proposed, such as Mount Baker, Mount Adams, and
Mount Olympus," but the service had not supported these proposals because "their
establishment as national parks would at once lower the dignity of posmon and prestige
of Mount Rainier as the noblest glacier-bearing peak of the Americas."™

Protection vs. Hunting of Elk

While the Park Service itself did not present a formidable obstacle to Forest Service
hegemony on the peninsula, protection of the elk herd did. During the time immediately
after the reduction of the monument, the Forest Service paid close attention to the
protection of the elk. On June 2, 1915, Assistant District Forest Thomas MacKenzie
sent a letter to Forest Supervisor Rudolph Fromme, which raised the question of illegal
elk kills in Olympic National Forest. Mackenzie informed Fromme that Joseph Hunter
of the Biological Survey had investigated the question of illegal interstate shipments of
game and had concluded that someone was killing 300 elk a year in Mount Olympus
National Monument. Mackenzie instructed Fromme to report on the suspected
violations, his efforts to prevent poaching, and the efforts and attitudes of state game
officials.®’

Fromme replied on January 28, 1916. He reported, "During the past summer and fall,
we on the Olympic have been giving a little more attention than usual to the points
brought up in your letter with a view to assisting as far as convenient in the
apprehending of violators of the elk protection law, and also endeavoring to work up
more definite cooperation with the State Game Commissioner and his deputies.”
Fromme then summarized reports from his rangers which indicated that elk were being
killed by local residents, but not in the numbers estimated by Hunter. Fromme also
reported that state game commission personnel were in favor of preventing hunting in
the monument.®!

By June 1916, Fromme’s suggestion that the elk population was growing too large for its
food supply was being published in local newspapers. By the fall of 1917, Fromme, or
someone on his staff, was suggesting that the overgrazing of the elk’s winter range could
be remedied most easily by a controlled hunting season. On November 5, 1917, Acting
Supervisor J. Roy Harvey reported to the district forester that certain areas of winter and

® Van Name. Vanishing Forest Reserves, 172.
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summer range had been overgrazed during the past year. However, he was uncertain .
whether the cause was an increased number of elk or the severity of the past two

winters. He then noted that, if the overgrazing was the result of an increase in the

number of elk, the best method for preventing future overgrazing would be an open

season. He informed the district forester that the state legislature had been

contemplating such a move for the past two years. He concluded by recommending that

the Forest Service take no action until the Biological Survey could make an on-site

evaluation.

Chief Forester Potter requested that the Biological Survey conduct an investigation in
the spring of 1918. During that time, Vernon Bailey inspected the eastern half of the
forest. In September, G. W. Field inspected the western half, where most of the
problems existed. Field found that more illegal elk hunting was occurring than Forest
Service personnel had reported. Indians from La Push were killing fifty to sixty per year
and selling the meat to non-Indians. He also determined that the elk were not fully
utilizing either the winter range outside the monument or the forest, presumably because
they were remaining within the forest and monument boundaries in the winter to avoid
hunters. Field wrote that "immediate steps should be taken to set aside a winter elk
range and a game reserve within the Olympic Forest, supplemented by a state game
preserve in the lower valleys" to encourage the elk to fully utilize their winter range. If
this were not done, he said, conditions "similar to that at the Yellowstone Park” could

occur.® _ ‘

Despite Field’s recommendations, no action was taken by the Forest Service and by
1920, Fromme was again publicly discussing the possibility of a limited hunt in the
western valleys of the forest. E. B. Webster, a local newspaper publisher and staunch
conservationist, objected to Fromme’s assertions that the elk population had become too
large to live off the resources within the forest. According to Fromme’s memoirs, he
took Webster on a trip to see the suffering and starvation of the elk. He recorded that
the experience reduced Webster to tears. However, Fromme did not indicate that
Webster changed his position as a result of the trip.¥

By 1926, dissatisfaction among local conservationists with the efforts of the Forest
Service to protect the elk had grown sharply. On June 9, 1926, F. W. Mathias, secretary
of the Hoquiam Chamber of Commerce, sent a letter to Congressman Albert Johnson
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that discussed conditions on the peninsula in general and contained a letter from the
Quinault Commercial Club endorsing the creation of a national park to protect the elk.
Mathias informed Johnson that "the need of protection of the game in the Olympic
National Forest and especially within the Olympic National Monument is receiving a
great deal of attention at the present time." Mathias further informed Johnson that he
personally knew of cases where elk had been killed within the monument’s boundaries
and that "poachers are continuously killing elk, birds, and even marmot," because neither
the state nor the two counties in which the monument was located had money to spend
on game protection.s

Mathias also said, "Travel is increasing over the Forest Service trails and now that the
Olympic Chalet Company has been formed a great many people will go into the Olympic
Mountains." Most of the entrants carried rifles for their own protection. Mathias held
that the argument of self-defense was groundless and that the rifles were used to kill
wildlife. He concluded, "Unless proper game protection is given and game preserves
created, our wild life [sic] is going to disappear."

Johnson acknowledged receipt of Mathias’ letter and promised to consult with Stephen
Mather, the director of the National Park Service, because "if Congress acts, it will be on
his recommendation." He also advised Mathias that several obstacles existed to the
creation of a national park on the peninsula. He said a substantial number of
Congressmen, including westerners, were opposed to the establishment of a large number
of parks, and, when he had discussed the matter earlier, he had been told "that steps
cannot go forward in re Olympic National Park until Congress has acted in re the
proposal, which has the right of way, for making Mt. Baker into a National Park."®

Johnson forwarded Mathias’ letter to the Park Service and requested comment. Acting
Director Arno Cammerer replied on June 19. He informed Johnson, "Before availability
of any area for National Park purposes can be passed on by the National Park Service
and the Department an investigation of the area in question has to be made by the
Service and this can not be made until a bill has been introduced in Congress for such
purpose and referred to the Department and the Service for report." Cammerer advised
Johnson that if he felt the question was sufficiently urgent, he should introduce a bill in
Congress.® Accordingly, on June 26, 1926, Johnson introduced a bill to convert Mount
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Olympus National Monument into Olympic National Park and to give the National Park
Service the responsibility for managing the area.”

Despite Cammerer’s assurance, no evidence has been found that the service responded
to Johnson’s bill by investigating the monument to evaluate its potential as a park. By
1928, national conservation organizations’ interest in the peninsula’s resources had
increased considerably. On October 22, 1928, Madison Grant, the president of the
Boone and Crockett Club, a group of New York City conservationists, wrote to Director
Mather to ask "whether any attempt has ever been made to set aside a national park in
the Olympic peninsula." Mather replied four days later. He cited some of the early
efforts by Congressman Humphrey and Senator Jones (discussed in chapter 2). Mather
acknowledged that the "area consists of perhaps one of the greatest untouched mountain
and forest areas in the United States” but concluded,

While it may have many of the characteristics of national park caliber, the fact that
it conlains approximately twenty-four thousand acres of alienated lands would make
its establishment as a national park undesirable unless those lands could be
acquired and conveyed to the Government at the time of establishment.®

It is unclear what area Mather was discussing, but it could not have been all within the
monument boundaries ai the iime. It is unlikely that 24,000 acres of alienated land
would have been found within the boundaries of Olympic National Forest. In any case,
the correspondence indicates that Grant was interested in creating a national park larger
than the reduced Mount Olympus National Monument. Mather and Grant met near the
end of October 1928, but no record of the discussion has been found in the official

files.*!

In addition to challenging the verity of the Forest Service’s conversation practices,
Willard Van Name also focused attention on the potential of the Olympic Peninsula for
a national park in his 1928 book, Vanishing Forest Reserves. He wrote, "Mount
Olympus...would seem to offer an exceptionally important opportunity for a national
park, not because the mountain is in any danger, but because it would probably be
possible to include a great deal of fine forest of kinds not at all well represented in any
of the present parks."”

® U.S. Congress. House. H. R. 13069, "A Bill To establish the Olympic National Park in the State of
Washington," 69th Cong,, 1st Sess.

* Director Mather to Madison Grant. 26 October 1928. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 2, 1, NA.
*' Madison Grant to Dircctor Mather. 29 October 1928. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 2, NA.

*2 Van Name. Vanishing Forest Reserves, 173.
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Doubts among local and national conservationists concerning the ability of the Forest
Service to protect the elk herds persisted throughout the early 1930s. The real weakness
of the service’s position--that it did not have jurisdiction over hunting activity within the
boundaries of Olympic National Forest--was exposed by the Washington State Game
Commission in 1933, when, perhaps in response to the fact that the Park Service might
soon assume jurisdiction over Mount Olympus National Monument, it authorized a four-
day open season on elk within the boundaries of both the monument and the forest.

Local conservationists were outraged. Even such pro-Forest Service groups as the Grays
Harbor Chamber of Commerce denounced the decision. Both the Forest Service and
the Biological Survey sent observers to evaluate the outcome. The Boone and Crockett
Club financed a trip by Milton P. Skinner, a former naturalist with the Yellowstone
National Park, who was to observe the open season events and report to the club. The
Park Service assigned David Madsen to observe.

Four hundred and forty-eight permits were sold for the hunt, which lasted from October
19 to October 22 and undoubtedly drew some freeloaders.”® Opinions on the damage
to the herds varied. Federal agency observers Leo Couch of the Biological Survey and
Foster Steele of the Forest Service found that no "general slaughter" had occurred and
that there were some benefits, including the weeding out of old bulls and the scattering
of the herds to more remote food sources. They also concluded that a detailed study of
the elk was needed to develop a better basis for future management decisions.>

Skinner found that no benefits resulted from the hunt. He contradicted the assertion
that only old bulls had been killed. He said that the bulls killed were not old but
constituted the prime breeding stock of the herd, which had been reduced by 20 percent.
He also found that the scattering had been, at best, short-lived, because most of the elk
had returned to their habitual grazing area within weeks after the open season had
ended. Skinner agreed that further research was required and urged that a three-year
study be initiated.”

However divided expert opinion on the outcome of the hunt might have been, a
consensus emerged on the peninsula favoring the development of better methods of
protecting the elk. After he had become known on the peninsula, Skinner was besieged
by local residents and civic organizations who asked him to speak and offered him
money to continue his study. He reported, "There is now in process of formation over

% Milton P. Skinner to H.E. Anthony. 21 November 1933. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 2, NA,

% Extracts from "Report on the Elk Hunting Season in the Olympic Mountains," made by Leo K. Couch for
the U.S. Biological Survey and Foster Steele, Observer for the U.S. Forest Service, 31 October 1933, RG 79,

Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 2, NA.

% Milton P. Skinner to H. E. Anthony. 21 November 1933. RG 79, Olympic, File 000-General, pt. 2, NA,
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the whole Peninsula, a new organization of sportsmen and others for the express purpose
of protecting and saving the elk." He also reported that Port Angeles and Aberdeen
civic and business groups were looking for ways to finance a continuation of his research
and that he had been assured by a prominent state legislator that money for the research
would be forthcoming.”®

The failure of the Forest Service to work with the State Game Commission to protect
the elk resulted in the 1933 open season, which, in turn, resulted in an increase in
sentiment favoring protection of the elk herds. This sequence of events made the
possibility of the creation of a national park more acceptable locally, and occurred just at
the time the Department of the Interior was establishing the Park Service’s presence on
the peninsula.

THE END OF FOREST SERVICE JURISDICTION OVER MOUNT OLYMPUS
NATIONAL MONUMENT

On June 10, 1933, President Franklin Roosevelt signed Executive Order 6166, which
assigned responsibility for the management of all national monuments to the National
Park Service. The order allowed sixty days before it became final and provided that "any
public building or reservation which is chiefly employed as a facility in the work of a
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particular agency" would not be transferred.

Neither the Department of Agriculture nor the Department of the Interior took any
action under this order until September 29, 1933, when Secretary of the Interior Harold
Ickes informed Secretary of Agriculture Henry Wallace that he would be ready to
assume jurisdiction over all national monuments presently under Forest Service control
on October 1. He advised Wallace to make an official request for the retention by the
Forest Service of those agencies which fell within the exclusionary clause.”’

Wallace replied that all national monuments under Forest Service control fell within the
terms of the exclusionary clause and therefore were not subject to a transfer of
jurisdiction. Wallace also argued that such a change in administration would duplicate
ongoing efforts, thereby decreasing governmental efficiency, and that the lands reserved
as national monuments were also reserved as national forests and thus had a dual title
status.

To resolve the differences between the two agencies, Ickes requested that Nathan
Margold, the Department of the Interior solicitor, provide a legal opinion on the issues.
Margold responded on October 24. He found that the question of efficiency was an

% Ibid.

*7 Secretary of the Interior to Secretary of Agriculture. 29 September 1933. RG 48, File 12-1, Administrative,
pt. 1, NA.
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administrative and policy question rather than a legal one, and that the dual status of the
monuments did not "from a legal standpoint make their administration for national
monument purposes by the Interior Department impossible or impracticable." He
pointed 9c;gut that Bandelier National Monument was presently being administered by
Interior.

Margold concluded that, as a matter of law, the inclusion of the sixty-day implementation
period in the order meant that "the President intended that any exceptions to be made
under the excepting clause should be agreed to between the Departments involved within
the 60-day period." Because the Department of Agriculture did not reach an agreement
with the Department of the Interior within the sixty-day period, it could no longer do so.
As a result, "these national monuments were transferred to the Office of National Parks,
Buildings and Reservations, on August 10, the date on which the Executive Order
became effective."”

The Forest Service chose not to strenuously contest Margold’s opinion. On February 1,
1934, Chief Forester Silcox recommended to Rexford Tugwell, who was serving as
assistant secretary of Agriculture, that the service be allowed to retain jurisdiction over
its monuments. In response, Ickes pointed out that the monuments were not chiefly
employed as a facility by the Forest Service and, in fact, for the most part had no timber
on them. He noted, "Only in the case of Mount Olympus National Monument...is timber
involved.""® Ickes then went on to refute every argument the Forest Service had

raised in the past concerning the problems attendant to transfer of jurisdiction.

The Ickes letter seems to have ended the controversy. It is probable that Tugwell, who
was very close to the president, did not aggressively push the Forest Service position.
Ben Twight, in his study of the Forest Service management philosophy, suggested that
the Forest Service did not wish to be seen as challenging a newly-elected president.
Twight also underscored the fact that Ickes had been named by Roosevelt as the
administrator of the Public Works Program and, as such, he controlled the funds of many

Agriculture Department projects.”

% Nathan Margold to Secretary of the Interior. 24 October 1933. RG 48, File 12-1, Administrative, pt. 1, 1-2,
NA.

* 1bid., 3.

10 Secretary of the Interior to Rexford G. Tugwell. 19 February 1934. RG 48, File 12-1, Administrative, pt.
1, 1. ‘

1 Twight. Organizational Values and Political Power, 60.
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CONCLUSION

By 1933, local concern for the elk herd and the Forest Service’s demonstrated inability to
protect it, had led to greater local support for the creation of a national park on the
peninsula. National conservation organizations had long been in favor of a park. By the
time the Park Service was present on the peninsula, the question was no longer whether
a park would be established on the peninsula--the question of Chief Forester Graves’s
generation--but how large the park might be. The fact that Ickes and Tugwell were
making interdepartmental decisions on the initial issues concerning establishment of the
Park Service presence on the peninsula suggest that the president was involved very early
in the discussions. The final resolution of that question would be the direct result of
presidential leadership.
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Chapter 4
THE FEDERAL PERIOD PHASE 2:
THE NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

The initial appearance of the National Park Service on the Olympic Peninsula came with
its jurisdiction over Mount Olympus National Monument. Throughout the Roosevelt,
and Truman presidencies, the Forest Service and the local timber industry opposed the
presence of the Park Service. However, in large part because Franklin D. Roosevelt was
determined that a large park be established on the Olympic Peninsula to preserve nature
for future generations, the presence of the Park Service was expanded during this period.
Roosevelt was supported by national conservation organizations and to some extent by
local conservationists and outdoor groups. But without his direct personal involvement,
Olympic National Park might have been much smaller.

This chapter covers early Park Service efforts to establish a park, the impact of national
conservationists on local and Park Service opinion, the creation of Olympic National
Park, its expansion by President Roosevelt in 1940, the acquisition of additional acreage
by Public Works Administration funds in the 1940s, and the final major expansion of the
park in 1953 and the significance of that expansion. For the most part, day-to-day
management problems are discussed in the succeeding chapters which are devoted to
specific management concerns, such as ranger activities and resource management. This
chapter focuses on the series of events over a twenty-year period that led to the
establishment of Olympic National Park as a "big park."

The 1933 open season on elk created local support for the Park Service’s presence on
the peninsula because it was assumed that a national park would provide better
protection for the elk. At the same time, at the national level, the inauguration of
Franklin D. Roosevelt to the presidency in March of 1933 led to the inclusion of
conservationists within the New Deal coalition. Roosevelt was a strong proponent of the
ideas articulated by conservationists. Arthur Schlesinger, Jr., in his biography of
Roosevelt, observed that he "cared deeply about nature--about land, water and trees"
from his childhood onward.! As a result, conservationists acquired increased influence
within the executive branch. ‘

Roosevelt was particularly concerned for the nation’s timber stands. He had seen the
timber in the state of New York decimated by lumber companies and, as early as 1922,
proposed that a private syndicate purchase a tract of timber within 100 miles of New
York City for use "as a park, as private interests operated forests for recreation in

! Robert A. Caro. The Power Broker: Robert Moses and the Fall of New York (New York: Vintage Books,
1975), 288.
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Europe.” With the newly-elected president’s support, the amount of land in the
National Park System more than doubled during his term in office, the greatest increase
to occur before World War I As will be discussed in greater detail below, Roosevelt
was personally interested in the creation of Olympic National Park. Given his
perspective and background, his position in any dispute between conservationists and
timber users could be easily predicted.

Early Activities 1933-1938

The October 1933 open season on elk persuaded many peninsula residents that more
protection for the elk was required. David Madsen, a Park Service wildlife biologist who
observed the hunt and who subsequently served as the Park Service’s first custodian of
the monument, reported the shift in public opinion to Assistant Director Dr. Harold C.
Bryant, who notified Director Arno B. Cammerer. Cammerer noted, "Certainly it looks
as if we had a marvelous opportunity to better conditions that have existed, and make a
real name for ourselves."

Cammerer’s assessment was soon justified. On November 11, 1933, Secretary of the
Interior Harold Ickes sent Cammerer a memorandum with the inquiry, "What do you

suggest as a means to afford better protection to the elk herd on the Olympic Peninsula
in the State of Washington?™ Cammerer suggested that jurisdiction over the national
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monument be transferred to the Park Service in accordance with the June 10 executive
order and that adequate "funds for protective rangers" be provided?®

These comments reflected the increased concern of national conservationists for the
safety of elk on the peninsula. The first call to develop a program to increase elk
protection was the publication by the Emergency Conservation Committee (ECC), a
group of New York City conservationists headed by Rosalie Edge, of a pamphlet
entitled, "The Proposed Olympic National Park," in April of 1934.

The pamphlet called for the establishment of a national park which would incorporate
the present Mount Olympus National Monument and the lands eliminated during the
Wilson administration. It raised the issues of both elk protection and the preservation of
some of the last old-growth timber stands in the Pacific Northwest. The proposed park’s

2 Ibid.

3 Cammerer to Bryant. 3 November 1933. RG 79 Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000, General, pt.
2,1, NA.

4 Ickes to Cammerer. 11 November 1933. RG 79 Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000, General, pt. 2,
1, NA.

5 Cammerer to Ickes. 14 November 1933. RG 79 Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000, General, pt. 2,
1, NA.
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boundaries were to include the entire Quinault River valley above Lake Quinault, Lake

Quinault and Lake Crescent with sufficient land surrounding them to assure their

ecological protection, and considerable segments of the Queets, Hoh, and Bogachiel river

valleys.® Thus, the preservation of old-growth timber became linked to the preservation .
of the elk herd early in the process of the creation of Olympic National Park.

The publication of this pamphlet led the Park Service to re-evaluate its official view of
the importance of the resources of the Olympic peninsula. Prior to the election of
Roosevelt, the service had maintained that the peninsula did not contain any significant
areas worthy of inclusion within a national park. The ECC pamphlet raised questions
concerning this position within the service.

In response to the pamphlet, Director Cammerer asked Assistant Director Conrad Wirth
whether or not "Mt. Olympus was one of our park projects that we are pushing." Wirth
responded by presenting a November 8, 1929 memo by Director Mather which concluded
that the area should not be included in the system because of the large number of
private property owners within the area and because it would, to a large extent, duplicate
Mt. Rainier National Park.”

Both Assistant Director Hillory Tolson and Associate Director A. E. Demaray reviewed
this memo before passing it on to Cammerer, and both recommended that this position
be reconsidered.® After receiving a May 25, 1934 report on conditions on the peninsula
from Major Owen A. Tomlinson, superintendent of Mount Rainier National Park,
Cammerer again asked Demaray and Wirth whether the past position should be changed.
Cammerer observed, "I see no reason at this time for diverting from this old decision but
if additional evidence is adduced in favor of the park project we ought to be free to
consider it." Demaray returned the memo with a handwritten note encouraging further
investigation. No evidence of Wirth’s response has been found.’

In his May 25 report, Major Tomlinson, who was to become midwife to Olympic
National Park, provided considerable information concerning the reactions of various
local entities to the ECC pamphlet. He reported that public interest had been "aroused
to a keen pitch in regard to the proposal of the Emergency Conservation Committee of
New York to extend the boundaries of the Monument to its original limits and have it

® Emergency Conservation Committee. The Proposed Olympic National Park, RG 79, Central Classified Files,
Olympic, File 000 General, pt. 3, 2, NA.

" Wirth to Cammerer. 26 May 1933. RG 79, Central Classificd Files, Olympic, Filc 000 General, pt. 3, 1, NA.
® {bid.

® Cammerer to Demaray and Wirth. 1 Junc 1934, RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General,
pt. 3, 1, NA,
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created a National Park...The elk problem is also of keen interest in practically every .
community."!°

However, he also reported that most businesses and commercial associations would
oppose both the expansion of the monument and the creation of a national park. He
concluded that "most of the Chambers of Commerce and other commercial organizations
will oppose the park proposal, especially any plan that will extend existing boundaries of
the Monument." This conclusion was based Forest Service opposition to expansion of
the monument. Tomlinson reported that, on a lunch time radio broadcast, Regional
Forester C. J. Buck had stated that the economic loss to the federal government and
local communities would exceed $150 million if the ECC proposals were adopted.
Tomlinson pointed out, "Considering that the Chamber of Commerce membership is
made up entirely of business men connected in one way or another with the lumber
industry, Mr. Buck’s talk was very effective indeed in creating opposition to the national
park proposal."™

Tomlinson’s memo identified the economic interests at the federal and local level that
would continue to oppose the creation of a large park until the visit of President
Roosevelt in 1937. However, concern for the safety of the elk remained high. It
remained uncertain whether a small park that would be acceptable to the local business

SembAmanto 1 i
interests and the Forest Service could be established.

During the summer of 1934, then, two questions required investigation before the service ‘
could formulate a position on the ECC pamphlet. The first was whether or not the area

met the high standards for inclusion within the park system. The second was the size of

the park. It would have to be large enough to satisfy conservationists interested in the

protection of the elk and rain forests but at the same time be acceptable to the local
business community.

Willard Van Name, author of the ECC pamphlet, left no doubt as to where national
conservationists stood. On May 15, he wrote to President Roosevelt urging him to use
the power which "the laws unquestionably give you" to completely restore the lands
removed from the monument in 1915. Unless this was done, he said, the monument
could not serve as "an effective all-year elk refuge."?

10 Tomlinson to Cammerer. 25 May 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General, pt. 3,
1, NA. ) .

1 1bid., 1-2.

12 Van Name to Roosevelt. 12 May 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General, pt. 3,

2, NA. . ‘
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Tomlinson began the process of developing answers to both these questions during the
summer and fall of 1934. He was instructed to report on the administrative problems
posed by the transfer of jurisdiction of the monument and on the nature of the resources
within the monument. David Madsen, supervisor of Wild Life Resources, Salt Lake City;
George Grant, chief photographer, National Park Service; and Preston Macy, assistant
ranger of Mount Rainier, were detailed to the peninsula for an on-site inspection.

Macy, Grant, and Madsen presented their first report on July 28, 1934. They pointed out
that the purpose of the report was to develop recommendations for managing the
monument in its present form. It did not directly address the question of whether the
monument resources were of park caliber. However, the descriptions in the report of
the glaciers, the river systems fed by the glaciers, and the rain forests of the western
slopes, left no doubt that the area contained resources of park caliber. The group was

“especially impressed with the Hoh River Valley. It reported that "the forests of the Hoh

River are outstanding and constitute one of the chief attractions of the Peninsula. In no
other park do we have a forest of this character."?

The group also inspected the alpine area of today’s park. It found that "the Olympic
Mountains contained within the National Monument are of unusual beauty. They differ
from most of our mountains in that there is no continuous mountain range. It is a vast
area of high peaks and ridges, for the most part, standing out alone."*

Given these descriptions, the decision that a national park be established on the
peninsula became inevitable. However, the group identified some problems pertaining
to the administration of the monument. It reported that the elk herd was being

damaged by poachers, but not irreparably. In general, game protection was inadequate
because the "responsibilities for protecting this game has been shared by so many agents
and individuals" in the past. "With proper protection there is no doubt but what the herd
will perpetuate itself and also probably furnish a surplus during most years."

The report concluded with the observation that "the present boundaries of the Mt.
Olympus National Monument do not contain a complete biological unit such as we
should have in order to preserve for posterity a true primitive area.” The group made
tentative boundary suggestions, being careful to point out that these were intended to

" Macy, Grant, and Madsen to Cammerer. 28 July 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000
General, pt. 4, 2, NA.

" Ibid., 3.
" Ibid., 3-4.
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provide a starting point for further study, adding that it could "furnish the basis for such
study."6

The group recommended that the boundaries of the monument be "squared up" by
including some timbered areas on the western side (presumably in the Hoh Valley) to -
provide for "the establishment and maintenance of a true biological unit in this area" and
to provide for better game protection. Although a large number of private owners lived
in the area, Lake Crescent should be included in the park. "Crescent Lake is one of the
most beautiful bodies of water to be found anywhere in the United States." In order to
protect its drainage, "no further timber operations should be permitted."?’

On August 11, 1934, Major Tomlinson forwarded an inquiry from Harry Myers, secretary
of the Mountaineers, a Seattle outdoor club, to Director Cammerer. This inquiry was
concerned with the differences between a national park and a national monument, and
which status the proposed park would receive. Tomlinson left the decision as to whether
or not to respond up to Cammerer, adding that if he chose to respond,

I think it will be entirely proper if you feel like stating that the National Park
Service believes that the Mount Olympus National Monument should be made a
national park. All of us who have any knowledge of the area, which includes
Madsen, Grant, Ben Thompson, myself, and I believe Dr. Bryant are willing to go
on record as recommending national park status.™.

By September 26, Cammerer had accepted Tomlinson’s assertion that the area was of
park caliber. On that date, Assistant Director Bryant prepared a memo for Director
Cammerer which listed points to emphasize at a meeting with Chief Forester Silcox.
One point was that "the National Park Service maintains that the area has national
recreational significance and meets national park standards."”®

Therefore, by the fall of 1934, the first of the two questions had been answered. The
Park Service had reversed its long-standing position that the Olympic Peninsula did not
contain areas that merited inclusion in the park system, thus taking the first major step
toward the creation of Olympic National Park. However, the second question, the size
of the area to include, was the subject of intense debate and remained so for the next
three years.

' Ibid., 5.
7 Ibid., 5-6.

** Tomlinson to Cammerer. 11 August 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General, pt.
4,1, NA.

¥ Bryant to Cammerer. 26 September 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General, pt.
4,1, NA.
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The first effort to define the size of the park was the work of the same Park Service
committee that had prepared the July study of the administrative problems presented by
Mount Olympus National Monument and was probably done in response to the
recommendations of that study. The report containing the boundary recommendations
was completed on October 5 and, except for the formal boundary recommendations,
repeated the language of the July study.

Macy, Grant, and Madsen, joined this time by Major Tomlinson, disagreed with the
Emergency Conservation Committee’s call for a restoration of the original monument,
They felt that this area included "much valuable timber on areas that are not National
Park calibre." Instead, they recommended that approximately 110,000 acres be added to
the present monument. The recommended area contained Olympic Hot Springs and Sol
Duc Hot Springs, Lake Crescent, and several miles of forest along the Hoh River?’ In
short, the group tentatively recommended that the proposed alpine park of 1915 be
established with the addition of Lake Crescent and a portion of the Hoh River valley, In
all, the proposed park contained approximately 410,0000 acres.

These recommendations were publicized on the peninsula in addresses by group
members to civic and business associations and in press releases to the Seattle and local
papers. The initial response of most local entities was positive, Five days after the
completion of the study Tomlinson reported, "Recent contacts on the Olympic Peninsula
and throughout the western part of the State indicate a very friendly attitude towards the
National Park Service." He urged Director Cammerer to announce an official Park
Service position as soon as possible to take advantage of this good will.

Tomlinson also reported that the Washington State Planning Council desired to act
quickly on this issue. The Planning Council was the arm of the Washington state
government charged with managing resources owned by the state. Ben Kizer was council
chairman and Ross K. Tiffany served as executive officer. Tomlinson noted that at an
October 9, 1934 meeting of the Grays Harbor, Aberdeen, and Hoquiam Chambers of
Commerce, which both he and Tiffany attended, all parties "appeared very friendly
toward the National Park Service and a proposal to create a national park on the
Peninsula.”! In a later memo, he expressed confidence that the Council would accept
his boundary recommendations.

Not all groups on the peninsula accepted the boundary recommendations. At an
October 23 meeting of the Olympic Peninsula Development League held at the Mork
Hotel in Aberdeen, members expressed differing opinions. Some accepted Tomlinson’s

* Madsen to Cammerer. 6 October 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General, pt. 4,
1, NA.

! Tomlinson to Cammerer. 10 October 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General,‘
pt. 4, 1, NA,
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recommendations, some opposed further expansion of the monument but accepted the .
conversion of the present monument to a national park, and still others argued that the

monument should be returned to the Forest Service. This meeting was attended by

sixteen members, including Forest Supervisor H. L. Plumb; the collective group can be

considered to be representative of the commercial population of the peninsula.??

The largest park acceptable to any segment of the commercial community was that
recommended by Tomlinson. However, local conservation organizations found
Tomlinson’s recommendations too limited. At a December meeting of the State
Planning Council in Seattle, Irving Clark, chairman of the National Parks Committee of
the Mountaineers, stated that his organization felt that at least 300,000 acres should be
added to the present monument, and, as Tomlinson reported to Cammerer, that "it
should contain a large block of the very best timber on the peninsula."?

Despite Tomlinson’s advice, the central office did not move quickly to accept his
boundary recommendations. It was awaiting further study of elk migration habits to
determine whether the proposed boundaries would provide adequate protection for the
herd. In addition, Ben Thompson, acting chief of the Wildlife Division of the central
office, agreed with the Mountaineers. On December 14, he responded to a letter from
Adolph Murie of the University of California, Berkeley, who was a noted naturalist and
whose brother had monitored the elk open season on the peninsula in 1933. Murie had
evidently written to inform Thompson that he was going to conduct a field investigation
on the peninsula.

Thompson indicated in his response that, "since the wildlife of the area is so important,
boundaries, particularly on the west, should be drawn according to wildlife
requirements," including elk-predator requirements. He then asked Murie to conduct
field investigations on the peninsula with the boundary question in mind, adding, "I have
shown this letter to Associate Director Demaray and he suggests that efforts should be
made to exclude as much valuable timber as would be possible and still delineate
boundaries suitable to a national park."®

Reactions to the Tomlinson boundary recommendations showed that three attitudes
toward the potential park existed. The first, and most negative, position was that of the
Forest Service and the lumber industry. The presence of the Park Service on the

2 Tomlinson to Cammerer. 24 October 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General,
pt. 4, 1-4, NA.

2 Tomlinson to Cammerer. 18 December 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General,
pt. 4, 1, NA.

% Thompson to Murie. 14 December 1934. RG 79, Central Classified Files, Olympic, File 000 General, pt. ‘
4,1, NA.
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peninsula in any form was unacceptable to these groups. The second, and significantly
more positive position, which was shared by most other commercial interests on the
peninsula, was that the Park Service should have a presence on the peninsula, but that
the only suitable park would be a small, alpine park for recreational purposes. Most
local Park Service officials